
 

 
SHORELINE FIRE DEPARMENT 

REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY (RFA)  
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 

AGENDA 
October 2, 2025 

5:30 p.m. 
Regular Meeting will be held via Zoom conferencing and  

on-site at Station 61 17525 Aurora Avenue North 
Join Zoom Meeting 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83414034545?pwd=QVJhWGxPMEtvaEdvMjJZSWFMMnBoQT09 
Meeting ID: 834 1403 4545  

Passcode: 554785  
Dial by your location: 1 253 215 8782 

 

I. Call to Order 

II. Pledge of Allegiance 

III. Public Comment 
Public Comment Procedures: 
Individuals wishing to comment must do so by signing the Public Comment Sign-In Sheet or if appearing virtually by 
“raising their hand” or the equivalent. Each individual must state their name, the organization they are affiliated with, 
if applicable, and their city of residence. The chair shall recognize those persons and provide them the opportunity to 
comment. Individuals may speak up to two minutes and those representing recognized organizations may speak up to 
four minutes. 

IV. Consideration and Approval of Agenda 

V. Station 57 HVAC Request for Proposals / DISCUSSION / MOTION 

VI. Approval of Past Meeting Minutes 
• September 18, 2025 – Regular Meeting Minutes / MOTION 

VII. Correspondence 

VIII. Standing Agenda 

1. Warrants – Motion to Approve 

2. Commissioners’ Report 

3. Financial Report (second meeting of each month) August’s Financial Report will be reported 

4. Statistics Report (reported annually at the 2nd meeting of January) 

5. Strategic Activity Report 

6. RFA Activity Reports 

IX. Old Business 

X. New Business 
• BLS Transport Fee Appendix A to Resolution 12-05 / MOTION 
• Sole Source Purchase of Lifepak Equipment from Stryker / MOTION 
• Uniformed Collective Bargaining Agreement / MOTION 
• Adding Finance Specialist and Facilities Technician Positions / MOTION 
• December Meetings and Election of Chair and Vice Chair / DISCUSSION 

XI. Projected Agendas 

XII. Adjournment 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83414034545?pwd=QVJhWGxPMEtvaEdvMjJZSWFMMnBoQT09


 

17525 Aurora Avenue North  •  Shoreline, WA  98133  •  PHONE: (206) 533-6500  •  FAX: (206) 546-5719 
www.shorelinefire.com 

 

Shoreline Fire Department  
Dedicated to the Protection of Life and Property 
  
Serving our Communities for Over 85 Years, Since 1939 

FIRE CHIEF 
Matt Cowan 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

   Eric Adman Tyler Byers  
   Kim Fischer David Harris 
   Rod Heivilin Josh Pratt 
   Rick Nye  Barb Sullivan 
   Rick Webster Lisa Wollum
  
 

GOVERNING BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY MEETING 

 
  Informational Only        Approval by Motion 

 

Meeting Date: October 2, 2025 
  
Agenda Title: Awarding the Request for Proposal for Station 57 HVAC Replacement and 

Installation 
  
Background Information: 
Shoreline Fire Department issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) from qualified firms to provide HVAC 
replacement and installation services at Station 57. 
 
To ensure the selection of the most qualified vendor, the RFP was distributed through the Municipal 
Research and Services Center (MRSC). 
 
Recommendation: 
The Department’s Support Services Chiefs, in consultation with the Department’s architectural firm, 
reviewed the proposals and recommend awarding the Request for Proposal (RFP) for Station 57 HVAC 
Replacement and Installation to ____________________________., and authorize the Fire Chief to 
proceed with and execute a contract with the selected firm. 
  
Financial Impact:   YES   NO   Cost Neutral 

Cost Impact: Anticipated costs will be reflective of the awarded RFP, 
  

Attachments: • Department’s Request for Proposal for HVAC Replacement and 
Installation 

• Vendor Submitted Proposal (forthcoming) 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MOTION  

 

I move to authorize Chief Cowan to award the Request for Proposal (RFP) for Station 57 HVAC 
Replacement and Installation to _____________________________, and authorize Fire Chief Matt 
Cowan to enter into and execute a contract with the selected firm. 

 

Follow Up Action(s):  
Follow up Person(s): Fire Chief Matt Cowan 
Follow up Date(s):         

 

http://www.shorelinefire.com/


SHORELINE FIRE DEPARTMENT 

STATION 57 HVAC REPLACEMENT 
 

INTRODUCTION/PURPOSE OF REQUEST 
The Shoreline Fire Department is requesting proposals from qualified HVAC design-build contractors to 
upgrade the HVAC systems at Fire Station 57. The project’s goal is to replace 3 existing forced air 
systems with modern, all-electric solutions that comply with Washington State’s Clean Buildings 
Standard, ensuring reliable ventilation, improved energy efficiency, and minimal disruption to 
operations. 

DEPARTMENT BACKGROUND 
Shoreline Fire Department serves the communities of Shoreline, Lake Forest Park, Kenmore, and the Town 
of Woodway. The Department covers a service area of approximately 25-square miles and a population of 
96,500 residents.  

We employ more than 180 full-time personnel, providing the following services: fire suppression, emergency 
medical services, special operations, fire prevention, community education and outreach. 

We are proud of our close connections within our communities and of the support given to us over the past 
many years. Our Department continues to grow and evolve to meet new challenges and changes in the 
communities we serve.  

SCOPE OF WORK 
The selected company will be expected to provide the following services at: 

FIRE STATION 57 
17020 Brookside Blvd NE 
Lake Forest Park, WA 98155 
 

Base Bid, including WSST: 
• Propose a solution that gives the kitchen/dayroom, sleeping quarters, office, existing exercise room 

(to be configured into (2) future sleeping rooms), and firefighter work room individualized 
temperature control; proposed system must operate on single-phase power and emit low or no 
noise and allow for simultaneous heating and cooling in separate rooms to allow users to ability to 
individually control room temperatures from within each room. 

• Existing hallways, laundry room, toilet/shower rooms to remain conditioned. 
• Explore options for space-efficient ERV configurations (multiple smaller units acceptable if they 

reduce disruption and piping modifications). 
• Implement phased construction approach ensuring a minimum of three (3) operational sleeping 

quarters at all times. 



• Provide a sequencing plan that identifies potential crew disruption including a strategy to address 
anticipated impacts. 

• Contractor must be able to perform all engineering in-house and obtain all permits and inspections 
necessary to complete the work. 

• Contractor must self-perform demolition and removal of decommissioned systems, electrical, 
plumbing, sheet metal, testing & air balancing (TAB), and commissioning scopes of work in addition 
to cutting, patching and repair of any and all impacted finishes to their current state.  

• Contractor must be able to meet an aggressive timeline with permitting, engineering, and project 
completion by the end of 2025. 

• Baseline Controls: Include manufacturers standard digital control system. 

Additive Pricing Alternates 

ALT 1:  Provide all-inclusive additive cost, including WSST, for Alternate Controls System as follows: 
• Basis of Design: Tridium Niagara 4.x Framework (current stable release). 
• Acceptable Products: Niagara Supervisor and JACE/Edge controllers by Niagara-certified OEMs; or 

equal meeting all Open Access/Interoperability Minimums in this section. 
• Serviceability: Must be supportable by an independent Niagara-certified integrators within 150 

miles. 
• Owner Rights: Owner is licensee; provide admin credentials, engineering tool access, and unlocked 

project deliverables at closeout. 
• Web Technology: HTML5 web UI; no browser plug-ins. 
• Protocols: Native BACnet/IP or MS/TP (BBMD/FDT), Modbus TCP/RTU; avoid proprietary gateways 

where open options exist. 

ALT 2:  Provide all-inclusive additive cost, including WSST, to add fault detection, monitoring, and 
energy optimization (smart building system preferred) to ALT 1. 
 

 

SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 
The selected Contractor must demonstrate a proven safety record, including submission of their current 
Experience Modifier Rate (EMR) and OSHA recordable incident history. Contractors with an EMR greater 
than 1.0 may be disqualified. Shoreline Fire Department values safety as a core requirement and will 
prioritize proposals from contractors who can demonstrate industry-recognized safety excellence (e.g., AGC 
Contractor of the Year Safety Awards). 
 

PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS 
Proposals shall be sent electronically in PDF format via email to both project coordinators on or before 
September 30, 2025 at 4:00 PM. Late submittals will not be accepted. Responding companies accept all 
risks of late delivery of submittals, regardless of fault. The Shoreline Fire Department assumes no 
responsibility for any circumstances resulting in late submittals. 

Proposals should include the following information: 



1. Qualifications: Provide an overview of your companies experience in fencing and gate 
installation, particularly in the public safety sector. Include information on key team members 
who will be involved in the project, including their qualifications and relevant experience. 

2. Timeline: Outline your timeline addressing the description of services outlined above. 
3. Budget: Provide a detailed breakdown of costs associated with the proposed services, including 

prevailing wages, additional expenses, tax, and exclusions. 
4. Contact Information: Including the Contractor’s name, proof of licensing and certification, 

address, telephone number, and name and contact information for an identified representative. 

Shoreline Fire Department reserves the right to reject any and all proposals, to waive any irregularities in 
any proposal, and to accept the proposal that is deemed to be in the best interest of the Department. 

 

EVALUATION CRITERIA 
Proposals will be evaluated based on the following criteria: 

• Demonstrated expertise and experience. 
• Experience working with local governments or similar public sector organizations.  
• Clarity and thoroughness of proposed approach. 
• Qualifications and experience of key team members. 
• Estimated timeline for completion of project. 
• Cost-effectiveness and value for money. 

Onsite visits are allowed provided they are prescheduled with DC Matt Hochstein. Contact 
information below. 
 

CONTACT INFORMATION 
For questions or further information, please contact: 

• Deputy Chief Matt Hochstein: mhochstein@shorelinefire.com 

• Capital Project Manager Anders Hansson: ahansson@shorelinefire.com  

EXCEPTIONS 
Proposals must clearly identify all exceptions that a responding agency takes to this request including but 
not limited to, any terms and conditions listed in the document. 

CONTRACT NEGOTIATION AND AWARD 
The Shoreline Fire Department reserves the right to negotiate with the selected responding agency that, 
in the opinion of the Shoreline Fire Department, has submitted a proposal that is the best value and is not 

mailto:mhochstein@shorelinefire.com
mailto:ahansson@shorelinefire.com


obligated to contract with the responding agency that has submitted the absolute lowest cost proposal. 
It is the intent of the Shoreline Fire Department to ensure it has the flexibility it needs to arrive at a 
mutually acceptable agreement. Negotiations may include, but not be limited to, matters such as: minor 
changes to scope of work, contract details, contract payment details, and service requirements. 

The Shoreline Fire Department shall not be bound, nor in any way be obligated, until both parties have 
executed a contract. No party may incur any chargeable costs prior to the execution of the final contract. 

Proposals will be evaluated based on the following weighted scoring model: 

CRITERIA Points Weighting Scoring 
Technical Proposal 100 35%  

 - Project Approach & 
Methodology 

30   

- HVAC/ERV Solution & 
Clean Energy 
Compliance 

35   

- Deliverables 
(Drawings, 
Commissioning, 
Documentation) 

35   

Management Proposal 100 25%  
- Firm Experience (Fire 
Stations & 24/7 
Facilities) 

30   

- Key Staff 
Qualifications & In-
House Capabilities 

20   

- Demonstrated Safety 
Record (EMR, Awards) 

30   

- Schedule Feasibility 20   
Cost Proposal 100 40%  

- Total Project Cost & 
Alternates 

80   

- Value for Money & 
Cost Control 

20   

Grand Total Points 300 100%  
 

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT 
A successful Contractor must comply with Shoreline Fire Department equal opportunity requirements. 
Shoreline Fire Department is committed to a program of equal employment opportunity regardless of 
race, color, creed, sex, age, nationality, disability, or sexual orientation. 



TITLE VI 
It is the Shoreline Fire Department’s policy to assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, 
national origin, or sex, as provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, be excluded from participation 
in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise discriminated against under any of its federally funded 
programs and activities. 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
In addition to nondiscrimination compliance requirements previously listed, a successful Contractor shall 
comply with applicable federal, state, and local laws, statutes, and ordinances.  

 



SHORELINE FIRE DEPARTMENT (RFA) 
GOVERNING BOARD MEETING 

 
 

Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board Meeting September 18, 2025 55 | P a g e  
 
 

REGULAR SHORELINE FIRE DEPARTMENT (RFA) 
MEETING MINUTES 
September 18, 2025 

Commissioner Fischer called the regular meeting of the Shoreline Regional Fire Authority (RFA) Governing 
Board to order at 5:30 p.m. on September 18, 2025, at Station 51, 7220 NE 181st Street, Kenmore, WA. 
98028. 

PRESENT: 
 

Kimberly Fischer, Chair 
Tyler Byers, Vice-Chair (attended via Zoom) 
Eric Adman, Commissioner 
David Harris, Commissioner  
Rod Heivilin, Commissioner 
Rick Nye, Commissioner 
Josh Pratt, Commissioner 
Barb Sullivan, Commissioner 
Rick Webster, Commissioner 
Lisa Wollum, Commissioner (attended via Zoom) 
 

Matt Cowan, Chief 
Matt Hochstein, Deputy Chief (DC) 
 

ABSENT: Andres Orams, Deputy Chief (DC) 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT: 

• None. 

IV. CONSIDERATION OF AGENDA 

MOTION: Commissioner Pratt moved, and Commissioner Webster seconded a motion to 
approve the agenda. The motion passed; ten ayes. 

V. APPROVAL OF PAST MINUTES: 

MOTION: Commissioner Webster moved, and Commissioner Sullivan seconded a motion to 
approve the August 21, 2025, regular meeting minutes as presented. The motion passed; ten ayes. 

MOTION: Commissioner Sullivan moved, and Commissioner Heivilin seconded a motion to 
approve the September 4, 2025, regular meeting minutes as presented. The motion passed; ten ayes. 

MOTION: Commissioner Webster moved, and Commissioner Pratt seconded a motion to approve 
the September 11, 2025, special meeting minutes as presented. The motion passed; ten ayes. 

MOTION: Commissioner Pratt moved, and Commissioner Webster seconded a motion to approve 
the September 15, 2025, special meeting minutes as presented. The motion passed; ten ayes. 

VI. CORRESPONDENCE: 

• The Department received a letter from a local citizen expressing appreciation for their services 
at the Hillwood Neighborhood Association’s Annual Ice Cream Social. 

• Commissioner Fischer noted receipt of a text message from a friend thanking the Shoreline Fire 
Department for their response to a recent call. 



Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board Meeting September 18, 2025 56 | P a g e  
 

VII. STANDING AGENDA: 

1. Warrants: 

 

DO NOT ENTER ON SHEET after 09/15

TYPE OF TRANSACTION INVOICE NUMBER
 DISBURSEMENT 

AMOUNT RELEASE DATE
RFA EXPENSE FUND:  10-064-0010

Vendor Voucher(s) 250910001 - 250910031 49,022.66                          9/10/25
Vendor Voucher(s) 250911001 - 250911029 563,105.38                        9/17/25
Vendor Voucher(s) 250919001 - 250919030 72,632.91                          9/24/25

Payroll Vouchers will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request - Payroll Direct Deposit will be presented at next meeting

ACH Payment Request - HRA/VEBA will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request - ALERUS (457 Plan) will be presented at next meeting

ACH Payment Request - WA DCP will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request -  Dept. of Retirement Systems will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request - IAFF Local 1760 (Union Dues) will be presented at next meeting

ACH Payment Request -  DSHS will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request - Payroll Taxes will be presented at next meeting

684,760.95$               

RFA ALS EXPENSE FUND:  10-064-6080
Vendor Voucher(s) 250909001 - 250909008 6,725.09                     9/10/25

250915001 - 250915007 141,096.57                        9/17/25
250916001 - 250916005 16,232.32                          9/24/25

Payroll Vouchers will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request - Payroll Direct Deposit will be presented at next meeting

ACH Payment Request - HRA/VEBA will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request - ALERUS (457 Plan) will be presented at next meeting

ACH Payment Request - WA DCP will be presented at next meeting
Dept of Retirement Systems will be presented at next meeting

ACH Payment Request - IAFF Local 1760 (Union Dues) will be presented at next meeting
ACH Payment Request - Payroll Taxes will be presented at next meeting

164,053.98$               

RFA ALS CAPITAL FUND:  10-064-6060
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                            

SHORELINE FIRE DEPARTMENT REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY

SEPTEMBER 18, 2025
Second Board Meeting

VOUCHER COVER SHEET



Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board Meeting September 18, 2025 57 | P a g e  
 

 
MOTION: Commissioner Pratt moved, and Commissioner Wollum seconded a motion to accept 
the disbursements for $1,071,400.91 per the detail above. The motion passed; ten ayes. 

2. Commissioners’ Report: 

• No report. 

RFA MIH EXPENSE FUND:  10-064-6070
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                            

RFA CAPITAL FUND:  10-0643-010
Vendor Voucher(s) 250908001 - 250908009 119,642.16             9/10/25
Vendor Voucher(s) 250913001 194.77                     9/17/25
Vendor Voucher(s) 250917001 - 250917006 50,817.28               9/24/25

170,654.21$               

RFA NKCTC FUND:  10-064-0100
Vendor Voucher(s) 250912001 12,862.50               9/17/25
Vendor Voucher(s) 250918001 274.47                     9/24/25

13,136.97$                 

RFA FIRE BENEFIT FEE:  10-064-0030
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                            

RFA BENEFITS FUND:  10-064-6050
Vendor Voucher(s) 250907001 3,165.60                     9/10/25
Vendor Voucher(s) 250914001 - 250914005 35,629.20                   9/17/25

38,794.80$                 

RFA DONATION FUND:  10-064-6030
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                            

RFA RESERVE FUND:  10-064-6010
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                            

MOTION
Move to accept disbursements in the amount of : 1,071,400.91$            



Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board Meeting September 18, 2025 58 | P a g e  
 

3. Financial Report 

• The August 2025 Financial Summary Report will be provided at the October 2 Board 
meeting. 

4. Statistics Report: 

• No report. 

5. Strategic Activity Report: 

• DC Hochstein provided a brief update on the Station 57 HVAC project. 
 The Department submitted a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the Station 57 HVAC 

Replacement and Installation project. The RFP was posted through the MRSC small 
works roster to over 130 listed vendors. 

 Final proposals are due the afternoon of September 30. The Department will evaluate 
the proposals and provide a recommendation to the Governing Board at its October 2 
meeting for approval to award the contract. 

 Commissioner Adman asked if the project proposal included the potential for 
additional bedrooms. DC Hochstein confirmed that language was added to the 
proposal to allow for the configuration of two (2) future sleeping rooms within the 
existing framework of the building. 

• Chief Cowan noted the Department has also submitted an RFP for mental health consulting 
services to support the Peer Support Program and assist with employee health. 

6. RFA Activity Reports: 

• Chief Cowan provided a written RFA activity report, which is attached and incorporated by 
reference. 
 The Department continues to work on finalizing the Uniformed and Chief Officer 

Collective Bargaining Agreements (CBA). Final drafts will be provided to the 
Commissioners for review, followed by a briefing under executive session if needed, 
with potential approval at the October 2 Governing Board meeting. 

 Chief Cowan also provided a brief update on recent public records requests and 
personnel rescue training. 

 Chief Cowan attended the Regional Crisis Response (RCR) Operations Board meeting. 
The RCR program is a collaborative mobile crisis response service in north King County 
that dispatches Mental Health Professionals (MHPs) to behavioral health crises instead 
of law enforcement. Topics discussed included usage data, ongoing and future needs, 
and challenges to expanded use. 

• Deputy Chief Hochstein provided a written RFA activity report, which is attached and 
incorporated by reference. 

 DC Hochstein provided an update on the Department’s strategic communications 
vendor contract with Gallatin Public Affairs. The contract includes ongoing website and 
internal portal training and has resulted in significant improvements to the 
Department’s RFP and recruitment processes. 

  



Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board Meeting September 18, 2025 59 | P a g e  
 

 The Department’s new ladder truck is scheduled to arrive at Hughes Fire Equipment 
later this month and will be delivered to the Department this fall for final preparation. 
It will replace Ladder Truck 161, which will be retained as a reserve. A push-in 
ceremony will be scheduled upon delivery. 

 DC Hochstein also provided a brief update on fire apparatus service arrangements with 
the Bothell Fire Department. 

VIII. OLD BUSINESS: 
• No Report. 

IX. NEW BUSINESS: 

• Lifepak Purchase Discussion: 

 The Department’s current stock of LIFEPAK portable, multi-functional devices is nearing 
end of life. 

 The purchases were identified in the 20-year replacement strategy and budgeted for 
2026; however, the Department will need to initiate the purchases sooner to avoid a 
significant price increase. 

 Commissioner Pratt recommended that replacement costs be set aside in a specific fund 
for these purchases moving forward. 

• Resolution 25-17 Transfer of Credit Card Accounts to RFA: 

 The Governing Board recognizes the need to provide access to funds in a timelier manner 
than the standard vouchering process allows, and to accommodate time-critical 
purchases, as outlined in Policy Admin 126.3 – Financial Procedures. 

MOTION: Commissioner Webster moved, and Commissioner Wollum seconded a motion 
to authorize the Governing Board of Commissioners to sign Resolution 25-17 and 
authorize the Fire Chief or designee to authorize the transfer of all existing Department 
credit card accounts to the Regional Fire Authority, and authorize the use, cancellation, or 
re-assignment of US Bank credit cards under the Regional Fire Authority. The motion 
passed; ten ayes. 

• Pre-Payment Pierce Heavy Duty Rescue: 

 A quote and contract with Hughes Fire Equipment for the purchase of a Pierce heavy 
duty rescue apparatus was provided to the Commissioners for review. The pre-payment 
option offers significant savings. Although budgeted for 2027 as part of the 20-year 
strategic plan, Chief Cowan requested consensus from the Governing Board to initiate 
the purchase this year to take advantage of the savings. The Governing Board agreed, 
with the exception of Commissioner Byers, who had stepped out of the meeting. 

• Embroidery/Logo Discussion: 

 The Board discussed logo and clothing embroidery for the new RFA Governing Board. 
 Commissioner Fischer volunteered to prepare a mockup logo including the RFA 

Governing Board title. 
  



Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board Meeting September 18, 2025 60 | P a g e  
 

X. PROJECTED AGENDA: 
• Commissioner Nye will attend the October 2, 2025, meeting via Zoom or will have an excused 

absence. 
• Commissioner Adman will attend the October 2, 2025, meeting via Zoom or will have an 

excused absence. 
• Commissioner Webster will be attending meetings via Zoom October 20 through end of 

December. 
• Commissioner Nye will have an excused absence at the November 20, 2025, meeting. 
• The Washington Fire Commissioners’ annual fall seminar will be held October 22–25, 2025. 
• The Department’s Leadership Retreat is scheduled for October 27–29, 2025. 

XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
• The Governing Board moved into Executive Session pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1)(i) – Litigation 

at 6:40 p.m. for approximately five minutes, to 6:45 p.m. 
• The Executive Session concluded at 6:45 p.m., and the regular meeting of the Governing Board 

reconvened at 6:46 p.m. 

The regular meeting of the Governing Board of Commissioners adjourned at 6:46 p.m. 

Minutes prepared by: Beatriz Goldsmith 
 
 
 
 
Boupha K. Siharath 
Secretary to the Governing Board 
 
 

 
Eric Adman, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Tyler Byers, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Kimberly A. Fischer, Commissioner 
 
 
 

David M. Harris, Commissioner 
 



Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board Meeting September 18, 2025 61 | P a g e  
 

 
 
Rod Heivilin, Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
 

Rick Nye, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Josh Pratt, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Barb Sullivan, Commissioner  
 
 
 

Rick Webster, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Lisa Wollum, Commissioner 





DO NOT ENTER ON THIS SHEET

TYPE OF TRANSACTION INVOICE NUMBER  DISBURSEMENT AMOUNT RELEASE DATE
RFA EXPENSE FUND:  10-064-0010

Vendor Voucher(s) 251005001 - 251005024 44,404.72                         10/1/25

Payroll Vouchers 92425A - 92425L 150,339.32                       9/24/25
ACH Payment Request - Payroll Direct Deposit ACH 1,176,794.90                   9/25/25

ACH Payment Request - Payroll Taxes ACH 278,343.11                       9/26/25
ACH Payment Request - HRA/VEBA ACH 83,148.66                         9/29/25

ACH Payment Request - ALERUS (457 Plan) ACH 103,805.18                       9/29/25
ACH Payment Request - WA DCP ACH 56,809.33                         9/29/25

ACH Payment Request -  Dept. of Retirement Systems ACH 250,587.78                       9/29/25
ACH Payment Request - IAFF Local 1760 (Union Dues) ACH 25,797.31                         9/29/25

ACH Payment Request -  DSHS ACH 5,234.38                           9/29/25

2,175,264.69$              

RFA ALS EXPENSE FUND:  10-064-6080
Vendor Voucher(s) 251002001 - 251002007 10,117.76                 10/1/25

Payroll Vouchers ALS92425A - ALS92425I 36,530.26                         9/24/25
ACH Payment Request - Payroll Direct Deposit ACH 333,066.36                       9/25/25

ACH Payment Request - Payroll Taxes ACH 89,938.27                         9/26/25
ACH Payment Request - HRA/VEBA ACH 22,899.93                         9/29/25

ACH Payment Request - ALERUS (457 Plan) ACH 31,772.47                         9/29/25
ACH Payment Request - WA DCP ACH 24,964.24                         9/29/25

ACH Payment Request -  Dept. of Retirement Systems ACH 77,022.15                         9/29/25
ACH Payment Request - IAFF Local 1760 (Union Dues) ACH 6,741.88                           9/29/25

ACH Payment Request -  DSHS ACH 2,069.00                           9/29/25

635,122.32$                 

RFA ALS CAPITAL FUND:  10-064-6060
Vendor Voucher(s) 251001001 - 251001002 95,870.06 10/1/25

95,870.06$                    

RFA MIH EXPENSE FUND:  10-064-6070
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                                

SHORELINE FIRE DEPARTMENT REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY
VOUCHER COVER SHEET

First Board Meeting
OCTOBER 2, 2025

Shoreline Fire Department_Voucher Cover Sheet Page 1 of 2 10/1/2025  11:21 AM



RFA CAPITAL FUND:  10-0643-010
Vendor Voucher(s) 251003001 - 251003003 14,586.84             

14,586.84$                    

RFA NKCTC FUND:  10-064-0100

Vendor Voucher(s)
251004001 - 251004002, 
251004005 - 251004006 7,698.47                           10/1/25

7,698.47$                      

RFA FIRE BENEFIT FEE:  10-064-0030
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                                

RFA BENEFITS FUND:  10-064-6050
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                                

RFA DONATION FUND:  10-064-6030
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                                

RFA RESERVE FUND:  10-064-6010
Vendor Voucher(s) No Activity

-$                                

MOTION
Move to accept disbursements in the amount of : 2,928,542.38$              

Shoreline Fire Department_Voucher Cover Sheet Page 2 of 2 10/1/2025  11:21 AM































Shoreline Fire Department 
BOARD MEETING DATE: October 3rd, 2025 

Chief Cowan 

RFA Activity Reports 

The following are noteworthy activities and/or meetings completed since the last Governing 
Board meeting:  

Hiring/Succession Development  
 We are now ready to initiate the hiring of a Facilities Technician and a Finance 

Specialist.  
 We are moving closer to approval of administrative positions being added to Union.   

Staffing 
 We have 9 accepted conditional offers for entry level Firefighter positions. 

Negotiations 
 Union voted and approved the Uniform CBA. 
 We have a tentatively agreed to Chief Officer CBA. 

Contracts 
 No update on NEMCO status. 
 The Bothell City Council and Union have approved adopting applicable CBA and 

policy language to allow for Vector Solutions management by SFD personnel.   
North King County Training Consortium 
 Will be coordinating training with KCSO for helicopter and boat operations. 

Budget 
 Our 2026 budget season is starting, with next meeting on October 16. 
 Still continuing to reconcile fire district accounts and transferring funds to the RFA 

accounts. 
Strategic Activity 
 Station 57 Generator Replacement is ongoing and working on HVAC options.   
 New ladder truck is at Hughes, then to us later this fall for final preparation.  Fire 

engine to follow in early 2026. 
 Robust conversation about short and medium-term staffing needs, to be further 

defined in budget process. 
Public Records Requests 
 Significant requests at this time. 

 
 
Noteworthy Meetings/Activities 
• September 20 – Open House 

 Good weather and turnout.  
• September 23 – LMC Meeting 

 Discussed ongoing issues and concerns. 



• September 25 – 2026 Budget Meeting #3 
 Discussed capital projects and started working through line by line expense 

items. 
• September 30 – October 3 – Leadership Summit Conference 

 
Incorporated into the above Board meeting minutes by reference. 
Submitted by:  Chief, Matt Cowan 



RFA Activity Highlights 

 
Shoreline Fire Department RFA 

BOARD MEETING DATE: October 2, 2025 
Deputy Chief Matt Hochstein  

 
Facilities: 
 

• Ongoing service ticket repairs. 
• First Arriving platform project underway. 
• Continued work with TCA for design of new carport over south drill ground parking stalls. 
• St. 57 HVAC proposals received and evaluated/scored. 
• St. 62 and next door property maintenance. 
• St. 63 SCBA compressor ventilation system design work underway. 
 

Fleet: 

• Ongoing preventative maintenance and repairs of all district apparatus. 
• Annual services and PMs are ongoing. 
• All 3 mechanics attended WFC Fall Fire Mechanics Conference 9/15 – 9/19. 
• Engine final inspection at Pierce. 

 
IT: 

• Microsoft Windows updates for September 2025 
• New Fire Suppression systems in ST51 and ST61 server room. 
• Started replacing computers at all stations.  (60+ swaps when completed)  
• IT Budget for 2026. 
• Ordering software and/or equipment that was approved for 2025. 

o Lots of research into new models of equipment that are different than what was 
proposed back when budget was done in 2024. 

• Repairing and replacing ESO tablets as needed 
• Misc tasks around stations. 

 

Near Future: 

• Critical vulnerabilities announced for VMware ESXi server - New updates need to be installed on 
all servers 

• Researching new Remote Control software, for IT helpdesk support 
• Researching new Monitoring software, for proactive monitoring of infrastructure equipment. 
• Researching new Pelco / Motorola software VMS   (video management system) 
• Network maintenance needed at ST51.  Not scheduled yet  – estimated 2 hour downtime. 
• Network maintenance needed at ST57.  Not scheduled yet  – estimated 2 hour downtime. 
• Network maintenance needed at ST65.  Not scheduled yet  – estimated 2 hour downtime. 
• Network maintenance needed at ST61.  Not scheduled yet  – estimated 4 hour downtime. 

 



RFA Activity Highlights 

 

Ongoing: 

• Deploying new 5G modems to various apparatus when possible 
 
 
DC of Support Services: 
 

• Weekly coordination meetings with Fire Prevention, I.T., Facilities, Fleet, Support Services 
Project Manager, and Executive Team. 

• TCA bi-weekly check in. 
• Close of surplus sale. 
• Labor Management meeting. 
• Bothell BC & LT promotional interview panel. 
• Finance Committee Meetings # 2 & 3 for 2026 budget. 
• Attend KCFCA Leadership Summit 9/30 – 10/2. 



Regional Fire Authority Activity Highlights 

 
Shoreline Fire Department 

BOARD MEETING DATE: October 2, 2025 
Deputy Chief Andres Orams 

 
The following items of note were completed during the period of September 19 to October 2, 2025: 
 
Deputy Chief Orams – Projects and Meetings 

• Weekly Division Chief meetings 
• Labor/Management meeting 
• BC/LT promotional interviews (Bothell) 
• Driver Engineer interviews – promoted Elliot Tonning and Wess Church 
• Finance/Budget Committee meeting 
• Zone 1 Tech Committee meeting 
• Electric Bus Isolation Areas meeting 

 
Fire Suppression (Pitts) 

• Weekly Division Chief meetings 
• Quarterly Safety Committee Meeting 
• NE King County Joint Operations Group meeting 
• Monthly Shoreline/Bothell BC/MSO meeting 
• South Snohomish County Regional Training meeting 
• Driver Engineer interviews 
• Finance/Budget Committee budget meeting 
• PIA for 187th Way fire 
• Tactics/Target Hazards meeting with COs 
• Quarterly Eastside Hazmat Consortium meeting 
• Meeting with NEMCO Director 

 
EMS and MIH (Kennison): 

• Weekly Division Chief meetings 
• Ready Rebound meeting 
• BLS Working Group meeting 
• School safety and security visits 
• Driver Engineer interviews 
• Finance/Budget Committee Budget meeting 
• Tactics/Target Hazards meeting with Cos 
• Swedish Stroke/STEMI collaboration meeting 
• ALS Training Officers meeting 

 
Training (Majeed): 

• Zone 1 Tech Training meeting 
• Shoreline/Bothell BC/MSO meeting 
• PIA for 16100 Linden Ave. N. fire 
• PIA for 187th Way fire 
• Tactics/Target Hazards meeting with Cos 



Regional Fire Authority Activity Highlights 

 
• Two Training Officer interviews 
• Bothell/Shoreline NERIS Training Plan 
• Bellevue Training Chief 1:1 meeting 
• Bellevue Special Operations Team meeting 
• ICS NFA review and team debrief 
• SKCFTC 2026 Training Calendar meeting and debrief 

 
 
 



 

17525 Aurora Avenue North  •  Shoreline, WA  98133  •  PHONE: (206) 533-6500  •  FAX: (206) 546-5719 
www.shorelinefire.com 

 

Shoreline Fire Department  
Dedicated to the Protection of Life and Property 
  
Serving our Communities for Over 85 Years, Since 1939 

FIRE CHIEF 
Matt Cowan 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

   Eric Adman Tyler Byers  
   Kim Fischer David Harris 
   Rod Heivilin Josh Pratt 
   Rick Nye  Barb Sullivan 
   Rick Webster Lisa Wollum
  
 

GOVERNING BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY MEETING 

 
Meeting Date: October 2, 2025 
  

Agenda Title: BLS Transport Fee Increase – Revised Appendix to Resolution 12-05 
 

Background Information: 
It is recommended that the BLS Transport Fee rate is reviewed on an annual basis so that the 
Department remains in line with cost increases as well as other fire departments in King County who 
bill for transports.  
 

Recommendation: 
Increase the base fee for BLS transports from $1,074.89 to $1,103.91 and increase the mileage charge from 
$20.30 to $20.85 effective January 1, 2026. A revised Appendix was added to Resolution 12-05 increasing 
the fee. 

Financial Impact:   YES   NO   Cost Neutral 
 Increase in cost recovery to the Department 
Other Options:  
Attachments: Revised Appendix to Resolution 12-05 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION (IF APPLICABLE): 

I move to authorize the Shoreline Fire Department to increase the base fee for BLS transports from 
$1,074.89 to $1,103.91 and increase the mileage charge from $20.30 to $20.85 effective January 1, 2026. 

 
Follow Up Action(s): Notify Systems Design of the increase 
Follow up Person(s): Asst. Admin Director, Rachel Garlini 
Follow up Date(s):    

 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.shorelinefire.com/


 

17525 Aurora Avenue North  •  Shoreline, WA  98133  •  PHONE: (206) 533-6500  •  FAX: (206) 546-5719 
www.shorelinefire.com 

 

Shoreline Fire Department  
Dedicated to the Protection of Life and Property 
  
Serving our Communities for Over 85 Years, Since 1939 

FIRE CHIEF 
Matt Cowan 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

   Eric Adman Tyler Byers  
   Kim Fischer David Harris 
   Rod Heivilin Josh Pratt 
   Rick Nye  Barb Sullivan 
   Rick Webster Lisa Wollum
  
 

BLS TRANSPORT FEE 
APPENDIX A to Resolution 12-05 

 
REVISED October 2, 2025 

(the revised fee schedule supersedes changes to Appendix A,  
dated December 21, 2017, of Resolution 12-05) 

 
At its October 2, 2025, regular Board meeting, the Shoreline Fire Department Governing Board of 
Commissioners moved to increase the base fee for BLS transports from $1,074.89 to $1,103.91, and 
increase the mileage charge from $20.30 to $20.85 effective January 1, 2026. 
 

  BLS Transport Base Fee  $1,103.91 
  Mileage    $20.85 per mile 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Attest:  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONER OF THE SHORELINE FIRE 
DEPARTMENT REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY (RFA) 

 
Boupha K. Siharath 
Secretary to the Board 

 
Eric Adman, Commissioner 
 
 

Tyler Byers, Commissioner 
 
 

Kimberly A. Fischer, Commissioner 
 
 

David M. Harris, Commissioner 
 
 
Rod Heivilin, Commissioner 
 
 

http://www.shorelinefire.com/


 

 
 
 

Rick Nye, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Josh Pratt, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Barb Sullivan, Commissioner  
 
 
 

Rick Webster, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Lisa Wollum, Commissioner 
 

 
 
 



 

17525 Aurora Avenue North  •  Shoreline, WA  98133  •  PHONE: (206) 533-6500  •  FAX: (206) 546-5719 
www.shorelinefire.com 

 

Shoreline Fire Department  
Dedicated to the Protection of Life and Property 
  
Serving our Communities for Over 85 Years, Since 1939 

FIRE CHIEF 
Matt Cowan 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

   Eric Adman Tyler Byers  
   Kim Fischer David Harris 
   Rod Heivilin Josh Pratt 
   Rick Nye  Barb Sullivan 
   Rick Webster Lisa Wollum
  
 

GOVERNING BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY MEETING 

 
  Informational Only        Approval by Motion 

 
Meeting Date: October 2, 2025 
  
Agenda Title: Sole Source Purchase of Lifepak Equipment from Stryker 
  
Background Information: 
Stryker is the sole manufacturer and authorized distributor of Lifepak 15 and Lifepak 35 monitors. 
No third-party vendor can provide these units or the required warranty and certified maintenance. 
Field personnel are already trained and certified on Lifepak equipment. Switching vendors would 
necessitate retraining of all paramedics and EMTs, causing operational delays and additional costs. 
Standardized devices improve patient safety by reducing the risk of operator error under emergency 
conditions. For these reasons, no other vendor or manufacturer can meet the Department’s needs 
without significant cost increases, risk and disruption. Therefore, Shoreline Fire Department 
requests approval to proceed with the sole source purchase of Lifepak 15 and Lifepak 35 units 
directly from Stryker. 
 
Recommendation: 
Approve sole source purchase. 
  
Financial Impact:   YES   NO   Cost Neutral 

Cost Impact: Purchasing sole source provides economies of scale and is neutral on 
overall cost of the purchase.  

  
Attachments:  

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MOTION  

I move to authorize the Fire Chief or his designee to enter into a sole source purchase of Lifepak 15 
and Lifepak 35 units directly from Stryker. 

 
Follow Up Action(s):  
Follow up Person(s): Andres Orams, Deputy Chief, Fire Chief, Matt Cowan 
Follow up Date(s):    

 

http://www.shorelinefire.com/


Approved by a motion of the Board of Commissioners at the meeting.

APPROVAL BY THE CHIEF OR DESIGNEE:

Andres Orams

COMMENTS:

(date)

DateSignature

ESTIMATED OR ACTUAL COST: $1,096,486.67

BUDGET LINE #

Stryker is the sole manufacturer and authorized distributor of Lifepak 15 and Lifepak 35 monitors. No third-party vendor can 
provide these units or the required warranty and certified maintenance. Field personnel are already trained and certified on Lifepak 
equipment. Switching vendors would necessitate retraining of all paramedics and EMTs, causing operational delays and additional 
costs. Standardized devices improve patient safety by reducing the risk of operator error under emergency conditions. For these 
reasons, no other vendor or manufacturer can meet the Department’s needs without significant cost increases, risk and disruption. 
Therefore, Shoreline Fire Department requests approval to proceed with the sole source purchase of Lifepak 15 and Lifepak 35 units 
directly from Stryker.

Only available from one sourceJUSTIFICATION FOR USE OF SOLE SOURCE:

REQUESTOR

MATERIAL/SUPPLY/SERVICE TO BE PURCHASED:

SOLE SOURCE VENDOR NAME:

SHORELINE FIRE DEPARTMENT
Approval Document for Sole Source Vendors

SOLE SOURCE INCLUDES MATERIALS, SUPPLIES OR EQUIPMENT, CLEARLY AND JUSTIFIABLY AVAILABLE
FROM ONLY ONE SOURCE OR CONSULTANT, PROVIDING PROFESSIONAL OR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE OF
SUCH A UNIQUE NATURE THAT THE CONSULTANT IS CLEARLY AND JUSTIFIABLY THE ONLY
PRACTICABLE SOURCE TO PROVIDE THE SERVICE. THIS WOULD INCLUDE TRAINERS, CONSULTANTS,
PHYSICIANS, ETC.

Stryker

Automatic External Defibrilators

SFD - FIN 306 Sole Source Vendor August 2007



















 

17525 Aurora Avenue North  •  Shoreline, WA  98133  •  PHONE: (206) 533-6500  •  FAX: (206) 546-5719 
www.shorelinefire.com 

 

Shoreline Fire Department  
Dedicated to the Protection of Life and Property 
  
Serving our Communities for Over 85 Years, Since 1939 

FIRE CHIEF 
Matt Cowan 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

   Eric Adman Tyler Byers  
   Kim Fischer David Harris 
   Rod Heivilin Josh Pratt 
   Rick Nye  Barb Sullivan 
   Rick Webster Lisa Wollum
  
 

GOVERNING BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY MEETING 

 
  Informational Only        Approval by Motion 

 

Meeting Date: October 2, 2025 
  
Agenda Title: Uniformed Collective Bargaining Agreement for January 1, 2025, through 

December 31, 2027 
  
Background Information: 
IAFF Local Union 1760 and Management negotiated and finalized the Uniformed Collective Bargaining 
Agreement for January 1, 2025, through December 21, 2027. 

 
Recommendation: 
Recommend that the Board of Fire Commissioners approve the Uniformed Collective Bargaining 
Agreement for January 1, 2025, through December 31, 2027. 
 
  
Financial Impact:   YES   NO   Cost Neutral 

Cost Impact: Cost of living adjustment and other indirect costs. 
  

Attachments:  
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MOTION  
 

I move to authorize the Shoreline Fire Department RFA Governing Board to approve the Uniformed 
Collective Bargaining Agreement for January 1, 2025, through December 31, 2027. 

 

Follow Up Action(s):  
Follow up Person(s): Fire Chief Matt Cowan 
Follow up Date(s):         

 

http://www.shorelinefire.com/


 
 
   

 
 

 
 
 

Agreement By and Between 
 
 

 
SHORELINE FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 
 

and 
 
 

SHORELINE FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL 1760 
INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS 

AFL-CIO 

 

 
 
 

 
 

UNIFORMED Collective Bargaining Agreement 
 

January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2027 
 

 



1 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

 
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT CONTENTS: 

Table of Contents 

ARTICLE 1: Recognition .............................................................................................3 
ARTICLE 2: Successors and Assigns ...........................................................................4 
ARTICLE 3: Savings Clause ........................................................................................5 
ARTICLE 4: Union Membership and Security .............................................................6 
ARTICLE 5: Collection and Payment of Union Dues ..................................................7 
ARTICLE 6: Non-Discrimination Clause .....................................................................8 
ARTICLE 7: Union Communication ............................................................................9 
ARTICLE 8: Union Business and Trades ...................................................................10 
ARTICLE 9: Subcontracting .......................................................................................12 
ARTICLE 10: Management Rights ...............................................................................13 
ARTICLE 11: Maintaining a Drug-Free Workplace ....................................................14 
ARTICLE 12: Off-Shift Participation ...........................................................................16 
ARTICLE 13: Disciplinary Procedure ..........................................................................17 
ARTICLE 14: Grievance Procedure .............................................................................18 
ARTICLE 15: Reduction in Force and Reduction in Classification .............................21 
ARTICLE 16: Paramedic Promotion Out of Program/Decertification .........................23 
ARTICLE 17: EMS Certification Performance ............................................................26 
ARTICLE 18: Paramedic School Assignment / Reimbursement .................................27 
ARTICLE 19: Wellness-Fitness Participation ..............................................................28 
ARTICLE 20: Probationary Term of Employment .......................................................29 
ARTICLE 21: Promotional Positions ............................................................................30 
ARTICLE 22: Conflict of Interest .................................................................................31 
ARTICLE 23: Contractual Hours ..................................................................................32 
ARTICLE 24: Working Out of Classification ..............................................................35 
ARTICLE 25: Salary Calculations and Pay Periods .....................................................38 
ARTICLE 26: Wage Scale Matrix ................................................................................39 
ARTICLE 27: Longevity Pay ........................................................................................42 
ARTICLE 28: Replacement Shifts and Overtime Compensation .................................43 
ARTICLE 29: Specialty Assignments and Pay .............................................................47 
ARTICLE 30: Holiday Time Off and Holiday Pay ......................................................53 



2 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 31: Sick Leave .............................................................................................55 
ARTICLE 32: Vacation Leave ......................................................................................62 
ARTICLE 33: Special Leaves .......................................................................................64 
ARTICLE 34: Leave of Absence ..................................................................................66 
ARTICLE 35: Jury Duty ...............................................................................................67 
ARTICLE 36 Medical and Dental Insurance ...............................................................68 
ARTICLE 37: LEOFF2 Long-Term Disability Insurance ............................................69 
ARTICLE 38: Health Care Trust:  Medical Expense Reimbursement Plan (MERP) ...70 
ARTICLE 39: 457 Plan / Deferred Compensation Program .........................................71 
ARTICLE 40: Health Reimbursement Arrangement – Voluntary Employees’ 

Beneficiary Association (HRA VEBA) ................................................72 
ARTICLE 41: Life Insurance ........................................................................................73 
ARTICLE 42: Clothing Allowance ...............................................................................74 
ARTICLE 43: Education Incentive ...............................................................................76 
ARTICLE 44: Fire Marshal's Office On-Call Compensation .......................................77 
ARTICLE 45: Electrical Use for Personally-Owned Vehicles .....................................78 
ARTICLE 46: Paid Family Medical Leave ...................................................................79 
ARTICLE 46: Term of Agreement ...............................................................................81 
 
  



3 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 1: Recognition 

Section A The Department recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining representative 
for all uniformed employees as listed by position in Article 26, Wage Scale Matrix. 

  



4 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 2: Successors and Assigns 

Section A This Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the parties 
hereto, and no provisions, terms, or obligations contained herein shall be affected, 
modified, altered, or changed in any respect whatsoever by the consolidation, 
merger, annexation, incorporation, transfer, or assignment of either party hereto, 
or by any change geographically or otherwise in the location or place of business 
of either party hereto. 

  



5 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 3: Savings Clause 

Section A If any provisions of this Agreement, or the application of such provision, should be 
rendered or declared invalid by any court action or by reason of any existing or 
subsequently enacted legislation, the remaining parts or portions of this 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

  



6 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 4: Union Membership and Security 

Section A Union Membership 

All full-time employees covered by this agreement shall have the opportunity to 
become members of the Union within thirty-one (31) days after employment with 
the Department, or, thirty-one (31) days after the signing of this Agreement, 
whichever is first. This will be accomplished by an “Opt In” or an “Opt Out” letter.  
The employee will make the choice of being in the Union or not.  If opting in then 
each employee shall tender dues and initiation fees uniformly required as a 
condition of membership. 
 
Employees opting out will knowingly not be eligible for certain benefits through 
affiliation with the Union.  Subsequently, the employee will not have any Union 
dues or fees withheld from their paycheck. 

Section B Non-Association 

Such employees, who through the right of non-association based on bona fide 
religious tenants or teachings of a church or religious body of which such 
employee is a member, shall comply with RCW 41.56.110 new Section 2, 
Paragraph 1. 

Section C Duration 

All employees that opt in to the Union shall have the opportunity to remain 
members for the term of this agreement consistent with applicable laws and IAFF 
Constitution & Bylaws. 

Section D Hold Harmless 

The Union agrees to hold the Department harmless from any claims filed by 
employees against the Department arising out of the Department's activities to 
enforce the provisions of this Article, except those caused by negligence by the 
Department.  

  

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=41.56.110


7 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 5: Collection and Payment of Union Dues 

Section A Payroll Deduction 

Upon receipt of the written and signed form from the employee authorizing 
payroll deduction, the Department will deduct Union dues and assessments on a 
monthly basis from the employee's wages in the manner prescribed by law.  The 
total amount so deducted as Union dues and assessments shall be collected and 
given to the Union at the end of each payroll accounting month. 

Section B Hold Harmless 

The Union agrees to hold the Department harmless from any claims filed by 
employees against the Department arising out of the Department's activities to 
enforce the provisions of this Article, except those caused by negligence by the 
Department. 

  



8 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 6: Non-Discrimination Clause 

Section A Department 

The Department agrees not to discriminate against any employee for activity on 
behalf of, or membership in, the Union. 

Section B Department and Union 

The Department and Union agree not to discriminate unlawfully against any 
person or employee because of color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, 
race, religion, national origin, age, marital status, or the presence of physical, 
mental, or sensory handicap, unless there is a bona fide occupational qualification 
disability. 



9 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 7: Union Communication 

Section A The Department agrees to maintain a suitable board, provided by the Union, in a 
convenient place in all staffed stations, to be used exclusively by the Union. The 
Union shall limit its physical posting of notices and bulletins to such bulletin board. 

Section B The Department agrees to allow Union members the ability to access the Union 
website from Department computers.  The Department agrees not to access the 
Union website directly or indirectly. 

Section C The Department agrees to allow the Union to communicate via Department email 
regarding Union matters with the understanding that those emails are subject to 
public disclosure laws. 

Section D The Department agrees to allow a minimum amount of printing on Department 
printers for Union activity. 

Section E The Department agrees to allow the Union to use a mutually agreed to office not 
used by an assigned officer and/or a storage room at an occupied station. 

  



10 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 8: Union Business and Trades 

Section A Union Business 

The Union agrees to conduct its business outside of work hours whenever 
possible. Union meetings may be held at Department facilities, provided they do 
not interfere with the Department’s routine operations or overall effectiveness. 
 
Official Union representatives may confer with on-duty Union employees during 
scheduled breaks, meal periods, or other periods of downtime. 
 
Employees designated by the Union President shall be granted time off—outside 
the provisions of Administrative Policy 108—to carry out Union-related duties, 
including participation in conferences, conventions, seminars, and similar events. 
This time off shall not result in any additional wage cost to the Department for 
Union business. 
 
The total amount of paid time off for Union activities shall not exceed 144 hours 
per calendar year, collectively, for all represented employees. 

Section B Union Leave Bank 

The Department shall maintain a Union Leave Bank. Each year, the Department 
will transfer vacation leave from the vacation banks of Uniform contract 
employees into the Union Leave Bank. The amount transferred will be based on 
the number of hours approved by the Union in September, which will be deducted 
on January 1 of the following calendar year. For 2025, the transfer amount will be 
determined by the Union upon approval of the contract. Union leave shall: 

1. Only be approved by the Union President or designee. 

2. Follow Admin 108 Optional Time off and Trades for scheduling time off. 

3. If there are no additional time off positions available, Union Leave shall still be 
granted; however, the hours will be deducted at one and a half (1.5) times. 

4. Unused Union Leave hours will carry over to the following year, with a 
maximum accumulation cap of 1,000 hours. 

5. Union Leave hours have no cash value and are not eligible for cash-out. 
Donated hours will not be returned to the individual employees who 
contributed them. 

Section C Union Trades  

The Union shall provide a replacement employee at no cost to the Department to 
maintain required shift staffing for each employee participating in a Union Trade. 
If the scheduled replacement fails to report for duty, the Union shall be 
responsible for any costs incurred by the Department in securing a replacement.  



11 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section D Department Reimbursement 

The Union President or their designee may approve an off-duty Union member’s 
attendance at designated activities and will notify the Deputy Chief of Operations. 
The Department will compensate the employee through overtime. The Union shall 
reimburse the Department for all actual costs incurred for that employee’s 
compensation, including salary, applicable taxes, and LEOFF2 contributions paid 
by the Department. 

Section E Union Negotiations 

The Union shall provide the Department with a list of up to six (6) employees—
more may be designated with mutual agreement—who will serve as negotiators 
and/or observers during labor negotiations. These employees may participate in 
negotiations but remain subject to being called back to duty if they are unable to 
secure a shift trade. 



12 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 9: Subcontracting 

Section A The Department shall not subcontract out or use computers/artificial 
intelligence/non-biological intelligence to perform first response firefighting or 
EMS work that is presently being performed by employees covered by this 
Collective Bargaining Agreement without first bargaining with the Union. 

  



13 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 10: Management Rights  

Section A Subject to the terms of this Agreement or applicable law, Management shall retain 
the right and authority to operate and direct the affairs of the Department. 
Management’s rights and responsibilities shall include, but not be limited to: 

1. Determining the mission, budget, and organizational structure of the 
Department; 

2. Managing and directing personnel, facilities, and equipment. 
3. Hiring, promoting, retaining, and laying off employees due to lack of work or 

other legitimate reasons; 
4. Suspending, demoting, disciplining, or discharging for just cause; 
5. Contracting for goods and services not presently performed by bargaining unit 

members; 
6. Determining whether goods or services should be purchased; 
7. Maintaining the efficiency of the operation of the Department by making and 

enforcing reasonable rules and regulations, provided that such rules and 
regulations are not in conflict with this Agreement; 

8. Changing or eliminating existing equipment, facilities, or levels of service; 
9. Determining the utilization of technology for new, improved, or automated 

methods and equipment. Any changes to wages, hours, or working conditions 
of represented employees due to technology changes shall be subject to 
bargaining; and 

10. Performing all other functions not expressly limited by this Agreement or law. 

Section B Management agrees that a continuing duty to bargain exists as to changes in 
wages, hours, and working conditions as may be required by RCW Chapter 41.56. 

Section C Management further reserves the right to take whatever actions are necessary to 
carry out the mission of the Department in responding to natural and human-
made disasters, such as a mass disaster, significant civil disturbance, earthquake, 
epidemic disease, terrorism, or other event having an equivalent impact on 
service delivery, which may necessitate a temporary change in operational 
procedures. 

  

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=41.56


14 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 11: Maintaining a Drug-Free Workplace 

Section A Purpose 

The Shoreline Fire Department (Department) and Shoreline Firefighters, IAFF 
Local 1760 (Union) recognize that inappropriate drug and/or alcohol use by 
employees threatens public welfare and the safety of Department personnel.  It is 
the goal of the Department and Union to eliminate or absolve illegal drug use, the 
abuse of legal drugs and alcohol abuse through education and rehabilitation of 
the affected employee. The possession, use or being under the influence of 
alcoholic beverages or unauthorized drugs shall not be permitted in the 
Department’s stations, work sites or while an employee is on duty or representing 
the Department in an official capacity. 
 
The Department and Union agree to negotiate a Policy that assures compliance 
with the Federal Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988 (PL. 100-690).  The Department 
and Union agree to a Policy and Procedure that is responsive to the unique 
working conditions of a fire department and the potentially dangerous and 
responsible work that is performed by its members. 

Section B Informing Employees about Drug and/or Alcohol Testing 

All employees shall be fully trained and informed of the Department’s drug and 
alcohol policy and testing procedures. Employees shall be provided with 
information concerning the impact of drug and/or alcohol use on job 
performance.  In addition, the Department shall inform employees on how the 
test/s are conducted, what the test/s can determine and the implications of 
testing positive for drugs and/or alcohol.  All new employees will be provided with 
this information on their initial date of hire.  No employee shall be tested before 
this information is provided to them. 
 
NOTE: Prior to any testing, the employee will be required to sign a consent and 
release form. 
 
Employees who voluntarily come forward prior to initiation of an investigation and 
ask for assistance to deal with a drug and/or alcohol problem shall not be 
disciplined by the Department. 

Section C Union Held Harmless 

The Department assumes sole responsibility for the administration of this Article 
and the Department’s Policy and Procedure and shall be solely liable for any legal 
obligations and costs arising out of the provisions of the Policy and/or Procedure 
and/or application of this Collective Bargaining Agreement related to drug and/or 
alcohol testing. The Union shall be held harmless for the violation of any worker 
rights arising from the administration of the drug and alcohol testing program. 

http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCODE-2009-title41/pdf/USCODE-2009-title41-chap10.pdf


15 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section D Changes in Testing Procedures 

The Union and the Department recognize that there may be improvements in the 
technology of testing procedures, legislative changes or other circumstances that 
may warrant opening this Article or associated Policy and/or Procedure.  In that 
event, both parties agree to bargain in good faith whether to amend the Policy 
and/or Procedure to include such improvements. 

Section E Conflict with Other Laws 

This Article is in no way intended to supersede or waive any constitutional or other 
rights that the employee may be entitled to under Federal, State or local statutes. 

  



16 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 12: Off-Shift Participation 

Section A The Union agrees that its employees, if available, shall respond to emergencies 
during normal off-shift hours when advised to do so by any of the normal 
methods of alerting, including telephone and text message. 

Section B If an employee is advised to report for duty due to an emergency and is not 
available, the employee will provide an estimated soonest time that they will be 
able to report, if requested. 

Section C The Department agrees to notify off-shift employees of overtime opportunities, 
call-out situations, and other important notifications using text to phone, 
automated phone, verbal by phone means, or via electronic messaging.  

Section D The Union agrees that all personnel, to the best of their ability, shall 
provide the Department with a reliable off-duty text number, mobile 
phone number, and/or a residence phone number. 

  



17 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 13: Disciplinary Procedure 

Section A The Department and the Union agree that the primary emphasis of disciplinary 
action is to ensure correct employee behavior and performance.  Disciplinary 
actions should reinforce expected performance standards and correct and/or 
rehabilitate misconduct or substandard performance. The goal of discipline is to 
improve employee performance. 

Section B The Department and the Union agree that a progressive approach to resolving 
an employee's inappropriate behavior will be utilized unless the infraction is of 
such a serious and/or immediate nature that it warrants skipping the steps 
outlined in the mutually agreed to Disciplinary Procedure. 

Section C The Department will take no action against an employee of this bargaining unit 
without just cause. 

 Just cause shall be determined by answering the following questions.  The 
answers to questions one through seven (7) should be “Yes” to establish just 
cause: 

1. Did the employee have prior notice of the possible/probable consequences 
of their conduct? 

2. Is the Department’s rule, order or policy reasonable? 
3. Was there a fair and objective investigation? 
4. Is there substantial evidence to prove the Department’s allegations? 
5. Has the Department applied these rules and penalties evenly to all 

employees? 
6. Was the degree of discipline that is recommended reasonably related to the 

seriousness of the offense? 
7. Are there mitigating factors, such as the employee’s work record, discipline 

history, minimal harm, lack of intent to cause harm, etc. that can be offered? 

Section D The Department and the Union will abide by a mutually agreed Disciplinary 
Procedure, as published by the Department. 

Section E The Department and Union agree that maintaining proper discipline is the duty 
of every supervisor in the organization. 

Section F Artificial Intelligence (AI)/Non-Biological Intelligence shall not be used in any 
manner in the discipline/discipline process of an employee.  Including, but not 
limited to, analysis for discipline and/or recommendation for level of discipline. 

  



18 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 14: Grievance Procedure 

Section A Purpose 

For the purpose of this Article, a grievance is defined as any dispute which may 
arise between the Union and the Department regarding the interpretation, 
application, or alleged violation of any Article of this Agreement.  
 

Section B Grievance Procedure 

It is the purpose of this procedure to provide an orderly and expeditious method 
of resolving grievances.  It is the intent of the parties to resolve grievances at the 
lowest step if possible. 

Grievances shall be submitted with the following information: 
1. A general statement explaining the conditions or actions under which the 

alleged grievance occurred. 
2. The specific Article, Policy, and Section of the Agreement, and/or past practice, 

alleged to have been improperly administered or violated. 
3. Remedial action is requested. 

The process for submittal and resolution is as follows (grievance only moves 
forward if it remains unresolved): 
 
Step 1: 
Submit grievance to the Union grievance committee, Human Resources, and the 
Fire Chief or their designee within thirty (30) calendar days from the Union 
Executive Board becoming aware of the event giving rise to the potential 
grievance. 
 
Step 2: 
The Union grievance committee shall investigate the grievance and provide a 
written response to the grievant, Human Resources, and the Fire Chief as to their 
findings and recommendations within fourteen (14) calendar days of their 
receiving the grievance. The written response shall include a statement from the 
supervisor or person as to why the action occurred, if applicable. 
 
Step 3: 
The Union and the Department shall meet and confer within ten (10) calendar 
days from the notification to Human Resources and the Fire Chief to resolve the 
grievance. 
 
Step 4:  
After thirty (30) calendar days from the meet and confer date, if the grievance 
remains unresolved, the grievance shall be submitted to binding arbitration 
utilizing the following process: 



19 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

A. A list of nine (9) names shall be jointly requested from the Federal Mediation 
and Conciliation Services (FMCS). The Department and the Union shall 
alternately strike one name from the list until only one name remains. The 
order of striking shall be determined by a coin toss. The one remaining shall 
be the Arbitrator. One working day may be allowed for the striking of each 
name. 

B. The Arbitrator shall hold a hearing at which the parties may submit their cases 
concerning the grievance. The hearing shall be kept private and shall include 
only such parties in interest and/or designated representatives. 

C. The Arbitrator shall have no power to render a decision that will add to, 
subtract from, or alter, change, or modify the terms of this Agreement. The 
Arbitrator’s power shall be limited to the interpretation or application of the 
expressed terms of this agreement. All other matters shall be excluded from 
arbitration. The Arbitrator shall not substitute their judgment on a matter or 
condition for that of the Department where the Department has not 
negotiated and limited its authority on the matter or condition. 

D. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final, conclusive, and binding upon the 
Department, the Union, and the employees involved. 

E. The cost of the Arbitrator shall be borne equally by the Department and the 
Union, and each party shall bear the cost of representing its own case. 

F. The Arbitrator's decision shall be made in writing and shall be issued to the 
parties within thirty (30) calendar days after the hearing is closed. 

G. Arbitration or grievance settlements shall not be made retroactive beyond the 
date of the occurrence or nonoccurrence upon which the grievance is based, 
that date being ten (10) or less calendar days prior to the initial filing of the 
grievance. 

H. It is specifically and expressly understood and agreed that taking a grievance 
appeal to arbitration constitutes an election of remedies and a waiver of any 
and all rights by the appealing employee, the Union, and all employees it 
represents to litigate or otherwise contest the appealed subject matter in any 
court or other available forum shall constitute an election of remedies and a 
waiver of the right to arbitrate the matter. 

I. In the event the Arbitrator finds that they have no authority or power to rule 
in the case, the matter shall be referred back to the parties without decision 
or recommendation on the merits of the case. 

Section C  Time Limits 

Any time limits stipulated in this Article shall be extended by seven (7) calendar 
days by notification to Human Resources and/or the Union grievance committee 
by email or other written method prior to the timeline expiring.  Any further 
modification to the timelines will be made only by agreement in writing of the 



20 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Department and the Union.  The parties may also, by mutual written agreement, 
waive any steps of the Grievance Procedure to advance said grievance to expedite 
a resolution. If at any step in the Grievance Procedure, the Department's answer 
is deemed unsatisfactory, the Union's and/or the aggrieved employee’s reasons 
for non-acceptance must be presented in writing. Failure by an employee and or 
the Union to comply with any time limitation of the procedure in this Article shall 
constitute withdrawal of the grievance. Failure of the Department to respond 
within the time limitations of the procedure in this Article shall default the 
grievance to arbitration as per the procedure described in Step 4, A-I., of this 
Article. 

 
  



21 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 15: Reduction in Force and Reduction in Classification 

Section A Seniority 

“Seniority” as used in this Article shall be defined as the length of continuous full-
time service with the Shoreline Fire Department beginning with the last date of 
hire with not more than one break in service of thirty-one (31) calendar days.   
 
Employees having the same date of full-time hire and/or length of continuous 
service shall be placed on the seniority list in accordance with the Fire Chief 
interview ranking or lateral entry Paramedic promotion list in order of the highest 
ranking first. 
 
If there were two different hiring groups for the same start date then seniority will 
be based on original offer date from the Fire Chief interview ranking. 
 
For seniority purposes, lateral Paramedics who were hired through the Shoreline 
Fire Department Paramedic testing promotional process, shall have their hire date 
based on the start date of the Fire Department they were hired from.   

Section B In the event it becomes necessary for the Department to reduce employees, the 
Department will utilize the seniority list and reduce employees by classification as 
it pertains to the source of revenue loss necessitating the reduction.  Revenue is 
defined as King County EMS Levy and/or Shoreline Fire Department General Fund 
income. A reduction in force may result in a Reduction in Classification (RIC) and/or 
a Reduction in Force (RIF). 

Section C Reduction in Classification 

A Reduction in Classification is a reduction in: Paramedics, Driver/Engineers, Fire 
Prevention employees, or any promoted rank. 
 
In case of a reduction in classification, the employee’s salary shall be frozen until 
the employee’s salary in the new position matches or exceeds the previous 
position, if the employee has been in that position for at least two years. 

EXAMPLE: If a position with ALS classification were to be reduced, that employee, 
based on their time in the classification (the most recently promoted employee 
would be the first employee to be reduced in classification), shall reduce to their 
last held position within the Shoreline Fire Department or Firefighter, whichever 
is higher.  

EXAMPLE: If a Paramedic, who was hired from another jurisdiction, is the least 
senior Paramedic within classification promotion rank, they would have the ability 
to move to the Suppression classification and use their seniority with the Shoreline 
Fire Department for seniority ranking. 

Section D Reduction in Force 



22 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

A Reduction in Force occurs when the total number of employees is reduced. 
 
The employee having the least seniority in the Shoreline Fire Department based 
on the seniority list shall be reduced (subject to Section B of this Article). 

Section E Employees subject to a Reduction in Classification or a Reduction in Force shall be 
recalled by the Department in the inverse order provided that those recalled have 
the ability to meet the qualifications to serve in the classifications in which the 
opening exists. 

Section F The Union shall cooperate with the Department to maintain a list of employee 
contact information of all employees who have been laid off.  Notice(s) of recall 
shall be sent by the Department to the employee(s) at their last known address by 
certified mail with return receipt requested with a copy to the Union. If any 
employee fails to report to work within twenty-one (21) calendar days from the 
date of mailing of the notice of recall, that employee shall be considered to have 
terminated employment with the Department, shall cease to have seniority, and 
the employee's name will be removed from the recall list. 

Section G Recall right for any employee shall expire twenty-four (24) months from the date 
of layoff.  A written notice of expiration or loss of recall rights shall be sent to the 
employee’s last known address by certified mail with return receipt requested 
with a copy to the Union. 

Section H Benefits and seniority shall not accrue during the layoff period. 

Section I The Department shall provide the Union with a current seniority list in January of 
each year. 

Section J Employees from Fire Department(s), listed in policy Admin 124-1 Promotional 
Testing Guidelines that participate in Shoreline Fire Department’s Paramedic 
testing shall be notified of this article. 

 
  



23 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 16: Paramedic Promotion Out of Program/Decertification 

Section A The Fire Department recognizes that, from time to time, employees serving within 
the ALS program may request to leave the program and be reassigned to one of 
the suppression positions. This request for permanent reassignment is 
differentiated from when an individual is promoted out of the ALS program into a 
position within the suppression group.  
 
These requests will be handled on a first-come, first-served basis in conjunction 
with the needs of the Department.  The Department will notify an employee 
within thirty (30) working days from their request whether the request has been 
approved and of an anticipated date for reassignment.  The ALS personnel 
requesting decertification must remain certified until reassignment by the 
Department. 
 
Unless otherwise determined by the Department, the Department will recognize 
two decertification requests per calendar year.  Such requests shall be valid for 
the balance of the calendar year in which they are submitted.  Employees 
requesting decertification and reassignment may reapply in subsequent calendar 
years if prior requests were not approved. 
 
Permanent reassignment out of the Medic Program is dependent upon the 
existence of an appropriate open position.  An "appropriate open" position shall 
be defined as a vacant authorized position at the rank appropriate for the 
employee requesting decertification, which may occur as a result of routine 
turnover, addition of positions, promotion, or when a Shoreline Firefighter is 
assigned to Paramedic Training. 
 
Requests for transfer on a permanent basis shall meet the following requirements: 
1. The ALS personnel requesting to be permanently reassigned outside of the 

Medic Program must be made to the Department between January 1 and 
March 30 of each calendar year. The timing of this notice may be waived at 
the discretion of the Department. 

2. The ALS personnel requesting decertification and reassignment must have 
served in the position of full-time Paramedic or MSO with Shoreline Fire 
Department for a minimum of five (5) years at the date of the request. 

Section B ALS personnel who are approved for decertification shall suffer no immediate 
decrease in pay upon reassignment.  Reassigned ALS personnel will receive no 
increase in pay until one of the following conditions occurs: 

1. The pay grade for the new job classification meets or exceeds the pay grade 
earned by the reassigned Paramedic or MSO. 



24 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

2. The reassigned Paramedic or MSO receives a promotion to a higher pay grade, 
which cancels the issue. 

3. Once the individual’s request is granted, the Paramedic certification 
requirements will be maintained and supported by the Department as 
outlined in Policy EMS 414 Paramedic Recertification and Renewal 
Requirements. On the approved date of transfer into a Suppression position, 
the Paramedic certification requirements are no longer in effect, and the 
individual will revert back to an EMT certification and function within our 
system. 

Section C Paramedics and Medical Services Officers who fail to recertify shall forfeit 
Paramedic premium pay. 

Section D Upon an opening of a Suppression Lieutenant position, a Medical Services Officer 
(with a completed Lieutenant Officer workbook) may request to be considered for 
the open position per Administrative Policy 124.  

Section E If a current Paramedic or MSO receives a promotion to a position outside of the 
ALS program, the following guidelines shall apply. 

  EXAMPLE: Paramedic to Driver/Engineer 
    Paramedic to Lieutenant 
    MSO to Captain or Battalion Chief 

Section F When an individual within the ALS program receives a promotion, the Department 
will support their Paramedic certification requirements as outlined in the 
Paramedic continuing education policy.  This support will be maintained until the 
employee’s current Paramedic certification expires. The employee’s certification 
may be extended for one (1) additional recertification period with mutual 
agreement between the Union and Department. The Department does not intend 
to allow an individual to maintain their Paramedic certification "long-term" 
working in a position outside of the designated ALS program positions.  If there is 
a long-term vacancy (greater than sixty [60] days) in the ALS program while the 
Department is maintaining the certification of a Paramedic who promoted out of 
the ALS program, that individual may be temporarily reassigned to the ALS Division 
to their previously held position (Paramedic or MSO). 

 
If an individual is promoted out of the ALS Division and that individual has 
completed their probation in the new position, they will be added to the rule of 
three’s interview if they want to transfer back to the ALS program, while the 
Department is still supporting their Paramedic certification requirements. After 
the Department ceases to support continuing education, the Paramedic shall go 
through the promotional process to return to the ALS program.  



25 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section G The Department recognizes that it is in the best interest of the ALS program to 
have all ALS personnel working long term within the program positions. The Union 
and Department agree that any ALS personnel transferred or promoted out of the 
program will be replaced with full-time employees using the normal Paramedic 
selection criteria and the University of Washington Paramedic Training program 
process. 

Section H If a Paramedic is decertified, they shall be considered within the Suppression ranks 
as it pertains to reduction in force/classification. 

  



26 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 17: EMS Certification Performance 

Section A In the event that an EMT or Paramedic fails to perform to the standard level of 
medical care consistent with King County EMS, the Washington State Department 
of Health (DOH), and/or Shoreline Medic One, as defined by the Medical Director 
and Washington State Law, that EMT or Paramedic may be provided with a 
performance improvement plan (PIP). This PIP shall not exceed 12 months in 
length and it is understood that the Department may take other necessary 
corrective actions consistent with this Collective Bargaining Agreement including 
Article 13: Disciplinary Procedure.  A copy of any PIP shall be provided to the Union 
President. 

In addition to a PIP, at the end of a PIP, or in lieu of a PIP, an EMT or Paramedic’s 
performance or conduct issue may be referred to the Washington State DOH 
consistent with RCW 18.130 Uniform Disciplinary Act (UDA). 

Section B The UDA’s intent is to strengthen and consolidate disciplinary and licensure 
procedures for the licensed health and health-related professions and businesses 
by providing a uniform disciplinary act with standardized procedures for the 
licensure and certification of health care professionals and the enforcement of 
laws the purpose of which is to assure the public of the adequacy of professional 
competence and conduct in the healing arts. 

  



27 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 18: Paramedic School Assignment / Reimbursement  

Section A There are a total of twenty-six (26) paramedics plus five (5) MSOs. There may be 
one (1) additional paramedic if the position is assigned to Training. 

Section B The Union and Department recognize the financial commitment to train and 
educate new Paramedics for the Medic One Program. Both parties agree that our 
desire is to offer new ALS program positions to existing employees as defined in 
our promotional policy.  Employees who enter the Medic One program and attend 
the University of Washington’s Paramedic Training program agree to the 
following: 

1. Acceptance into the training program is dependent on passing the pre-course 
Anatomy and Physiology class as provided by Paramedic Training.  This course 
is provided at no cost to the employee but does require study and occasional 
classroom time outside of their normally assigned work schedule. 

2. Upon successful completion of the Paramedic Training Program, a minimum 
five-year (5) commitment to remain employed with the Shoreline Fire 
Department working within the ALS program is required. 

3. If an individual voluntarily separates from the ALS program prior to five (5) 
years, the following will occur: 

a) A computation of the individual’s total salary, benefits, and overtime from 
the time the individual is assigned to paramedic school up to graduation will 
be conducted.  This calculation will include any additional overtime accrued 
specifically to the Anatomy and Physiology pre-course requirements. 

b) The total dollar amount will be divided by sixty (60) months, and this 
amount will be prorated for the amount of time the individual is not 
fulfilling the 5-year requirement. 

c) This dollar amount will be required to be reimbursed back to the Shoreline 
Fire Department for the costs associated with Paramedic training. 

EXAMPLE: An Employee chooses to leave the Shoreline Fire Department 16 
months short of five years after receiving certification as a State of 
Washington Paramedic. If the total employee costs and compensation for 
Paramedic school was $125,000, the $125,000 ÷ 60 = $2,083.3 and then × 
16 months. The employee would be required to repay $33,332.80 toward 
their Paramedic training expenses incurred by the Shoreline Fire 
Department. 

4. If the employee is terminated or separates for a career-ending disability, L&I 
disability, or death, the repayment requirement is waived. 

5. If a Paramedic is demoted or reduced in classification, the repayment 
requirement is waived.  



28 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 19: Wellness-Fitness Participation 

Section A The Department and the Union mutually recognize the vital importance of an 
employee’s physical and mental health and its relationship in fulfilling the mission 
of the Department.  The Department and the Union also agree that physical fitness 
is an essential job requirement, and it is in the best interest of the employee and 
shift teams to fully participate in the Wellness Fitness Program on a regular basis. 

Section B The Wellness Fitness program shall be coordinated by a Labor/Management 
committee as detailed in Safety & Health Policy 517. 

Section C All employees shall participate in the Wellness Fitness Program as detailed in 
Safety & Health Policy 517. 

  



29 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 20: Probationary Term of Employment 

Section A The probationary period allows the Department to terminate an employee 
outside of the normal disciplinary process applied to non-probationary 
employees. 

Section B The probationary period for new employees, including employees hired through 
the Paramedic promotional process, shall end twelve (12) months following 
assignment to a Platoon shift, which shall be considered the first day that the new 
employee is eligible to respond to 911 calls.  Successful completion of the 
probationary period shall include completion of the applicable first-year program. 
If a probationary employee misses more than 192 hours of 24-hour shift work in 
their probationary period, the employee’s probationary period shall be extended 
by the time equivalent to the missing shifts.  Failure to successfully complete 
probation as stated above shall result in termination or possible extension of 
probation if mutually agreed to between the Union and Department. 

Section C An employee’s Employment Probationary period may be extended by mutual 
agreement between the Union and Department in order to meet the necessary 
requirements.  Any extension of probation shall have a specific date when the 
extension will end, not to exceed three (3) months.  In the event a probation is 
extended, a specific work plan shall be created to assist the employee in 
identifying and verifying the requirements that are met.  An employee who does 
not meet the requirements of the work plan shall be terminated.   

Section D A Department employee promoted to fill a vacant position within the bargaining 
unit shall be subject to a twelve (12) calendar month probationary period.  In the 
event the employee does not successfully complete the probationary period, such 
employee shall be reassigned to their former job classification and pay. 

  

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Termination_of_employment


30 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 21: Promotional Positions 

Section A All ranks above Firefighter as listed in Article 26, Wage Scale Matrix, shall be 
considered promotions.  

All advancement opportunities within the bargaining unit shall be offered to 
bargaining unit employees. If the position is not filled through this process, the 
Department may open the selection process to non-Department candidates. 

  



31 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 22: Conflict of Interest 

Section A Employees that fall into the category of relationships as defined in Section D shall 
be constrained in their work schedule with each other subject to the following 
conditions identified in Sections B and C.  Employees that have entered into these 
defined relationships shall notify Human Resources as soon as practical. 

Section B Peer/Peer employees may be assigned to the same shift but shall not be assigned 
to the same station on a regular basis. Every effort shall be made to assign affected 
employees to different emergency apparatus. 

Section C Supervisory or Administrative employees shall not be assigned to the same shift 
or division where they will be in a supervisory or administrative role with the 
person defined in Section D. 

If during the course of any investigation or personnel matter it is determined that 
the investigator is in a relationship with the person of interest, the investigator 
must immediately notify their supervisor and recuse him/herself from any further 
involvement in the process.  Under no circumstances shall any individuals who are 
defined in Section D be included in any disciplinary or investigative actions. 

Section D Defined Relationships: 

Relative: This includes the following relationships: spouse, children, step-children, 
parent, step-parent, grandparent, grandchild, brother, sister, half-brother, half-
sister, aunt, uncle, cousins, niece, nephew, parent-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-
law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, domestic partner and/or anyone with whom the 
employee shares a house, apartment or other living arrangement. 

 
Close Personal Relationship: This includes a romantic, dating, cohabitating, 
sexual, or intimate relationship. 

Section E Supervisory employees that enter into a relationship defined in Section D that 
choose to relinquish their supervisor position and enter a peer-to-peer 
relationship and assignment defined in Section D shall continue on the acting list 
as a workbook Acting Officer for that rank and position and shall have their wage 
frozen until their wage for the new position meets or exceeds their current wage. 

  



32 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 23: Contractual Hours 

Section A All basic shift arrangements and duty hours are established in accordance with 
FLSA Section 7K (Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §201). 

Four-Platoon Shift: 
Employees on a four-platoon schedule shall work a total of 2,496 hours per year, 
averaging 47.8 hours per week over 52.18 weeks, using a 24-day FLSA work cycle. 

Shifts are 24 hours, starting at 0800 hours, rotating as follows: 
• 1 day ON 
• 1 day OFF 
• 1 day ON 
• 5 days OFF 

Additional "work back days" are scheduled as needed to meet the 2,496-hour 
obligation, per Administrative Policy 108. 

Section B FLSA Compliance: 
1. The maximum number of non-overtime hours worked during a 24-day FLSA 

cycle shall not exceed 182 hours. 

2. Trades do not impact the FLSA hour count. 

3. Each employee shall have a maximum of one debit day per FLSA work period.  
If a debit day(s) is scheduled that results in the employee working more than 
182 hours in the defined FLSA work period, the employee shall be 
compensated with an additional ½ time (normal pay plus the additional ½ 
time, which is equal to their overtime rate).  This only applies to the hours 
exceeding the 182-hour threshold, and only applies to hours actually worked 
in the FLSA work period; paid time off does not count as hours worked when 
determining FLSA mandated overtime.   

Note: The 24-day FLSA period does not affect other overtime obligations 
defined in the CBA. 

Section C Day Shift: 
1. Employees shall work 2,080 hours per year, averaging 40 hours per week over 

a 28-day FLSA cycle. 

2. Shifts typically start between 0600–0800 hours, with lunch breaks of 30 or 60 
minutes. 

• Possible Schedules (at Fire Chief’s discretion): 
o Monday–Friday: 8 hours/day. 
o Monday-Thursday and alternating Fridays: 9 hours/day (M-Th), 8 hours 

every other Friday. (Alternate Mondays off allowed) 



33 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

o Monday–Thursday or Tuesday–Friday: 10 hours/day. 
o Flexibility: Schedule variations may be approved by mutual agreement to 

meet position-specific needs. 

Section D Training Shift: 
1. Applies only to employees in training programs exceeding four weeks. 

2. Assigned a 2,080-hour annual schedule; no day shift premium is paid. 

3. No holiday work per Article 30; employees are not required to work holidays. 

4. Mileage: Employees are reimbursed at the IRS mileage rate for travel from 
Station 61, unless the training location is their assigned "work home." If it is 
not, mileage from their designated work home will be reimbursed. 

5. Leave Accruals: Vacation and sick leave accrue at day shift rates during training 
assignments. 

6. Holiday Pay: If required to work on a holiday (Article 30), employees shall be 
paid overtime for hours actually worked between 00:00 and 23:59. 

Section E Paramedic Training Shift 
1. Applies to employees in the University of Washington Paramedic Program. 

2. Annual schedule: 2,288 hours, with paramedic training premium per Article 
26. 

3. A 28-day FLSA work period begins on the first Monday after training starts. 

4. Overtime is paid for hours exceeding 176 hours per cycle. 

5. Salary will not be reduced due to variable training hours. 

• Additional Details: 
o Paramedic students must report weekly hours each Monday to a Deputy 

Chief or designee. 
o They accrue an additional 20 hours of vacation upon completion of the 

training. 
o Sick Leave and Vacation Leave shall be accrued at the employee’s day shift 

rate while assigned to Paramedic Training Shift. 
7. Mileage: Employees are reimbursed at the IRS mileage rate for travel from 

Station 61, unless the training location is their assigned "work home." If it is 
not, mileage from their designated work home will be reimbursed. 

o  
o Holiday Pay: Employees working on a recognized holiday (Article 30) are 

paid overtime for all hours worked between 00:00 and 23:59 

Section F Operations Day Shift 



34 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

1. For personnel assigned to response apparatus during peak hours. 

2. Annual work schedule: 2,288 hours, using a 28-day FLSA cycle. 

3. Holiday Pay: Employees working on a recognized holiday (Article 30) are paid 
overtime for all hours worked between 00:00 and 23:59. 

4. Possible Schedules (adjusted to meet 2,288-hour requirement): 
o Four 14-hour days on / Four days off (2,555 hours originally). 
o Four 12-hour days on / Four days off (2,190 hours originally). 
o Monday–Friday: 9 hours/day with paid lunch (2,348 hours originally). 

Section G Disaster Operations Shift 
In the event of a major incident, the Fire Chief or designee may declare a 
Department Disaster, triggering alternative work schedules for up to 72 hours, 
with Union notification. 

If the alternative schedule is not a 24-hour shift, employees will receive the day 
shift premium. 

If operations must continue beyond 72 hours, the Department and Union shall 
meet and confer to determine further scheduling. 

Section H General Provisions 

 Schedule Changes: 

The Department shall provide at least 15 days' notice for scheduling changes. 
Changes may occur sooner with mutual agreement. Employees recovering from 
duty-related disability may be reassigned as soon as medically appropriate. 

 Annual Schedule Publication: 

The full work schedule for the following year shall be published no later than 
October 15. 

 Trades: 

All shift trades shall be managed in accordance with Administrative Policy 108: 
Scheduling Optional Time Off and Trades. 

  



35 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 24: Working Out of Classification 

Section A Short-Term Position Change (less than 60 days) 

When an Officer position, Driver/Engineer position, or other designated 
Department position becomes vacant due to vacation leave, sick leave, school, or 
other similar circumstances lasting less than 60 days, the position shall be filled by 
qualified personnel in accordance with Training Policy 618 Qualification of 
Members for Positions/Duties.  If an overtime shift is created, the vacancy will be 
filled using the normal overtime procedure (refer to Administration Policy 136 
Employee Overtime). 
 
The Department will attempt to make these replacements in accordance with 
Admin Policy 136 Employee Overtime. When Acting Officers and Acting 
Driver/Engineers are used to fill vacancies, the hourly rate of pay for these 
replacements shall be based upon the starting pay for the position being replaced, 
as stated in Article 26 Wage Scale Matrix.  
 
If an employee is unable to or chooses not to accept a short-term position change, 
the Department will fill the position with another available authorized employee.  
Employee’s that do not accept the short term acting shift may not have the same 
acting hours at the end of the year due to passing up on opportunities to act. 

Section B Long-Term Position Change (60 days or longer) 

When an Officer position, Driver/Engineer position, or other designated 
Department position becomes vacant for 60 days or longer, the Fire Chief or 
designee shall appoint an employee qualified in accordance with Training Policy 
618 Qualification of Members for Positions/Duties.  The appointment shall be 
placed no later than 30 days from the starting date of the vacancy, and/or when 
it becomes known that there will be a vacancy of 60 days or longer.  The position 
is considered vacant from the first shift or partial shift the employee is on leave. 
 
The first long-term acting position will be offered to an employee with the most 
senior completed workbook matching the vacancy. The next vacancy shall be 
offered to the next person with the most senior workbook, and so on.  At the start 
of a long-term acting position, the employee will be moved to the bottom of the 
list.  When a person completes their workbook, they shall be placed at the bottom 
of the workbook seniority list, below any other employees who have already 
started a long-term acting position. 

EXAMPLE: Sue has the most senior acting Driver workbook and completes a term 
as a long-term acting Driver.  Sue is placed at the bottom of the long-term acting 
Driver list.  A month later Bob completes an acting Driver workbook.  Bob will be 
placed on the long-term acting driver list below Sue. 
 



36 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

If a long-term acting position lasts less than eight shifts, not at the employee’s 
request, from the date the employee was offered the long-term acting position, 
then the employee will stay at the same position on the long-term acting list.  Use 
of sick leave, vacation, comp time, etc., during the long-term acting counts 
towards the eight shifts.  This will be retroactive to long-term acting positions 
starting after January 1, 2024. 
 
An employee may request not to be appointed to a long-term acting position.  If 
all qualified actors turn down the acting position, then the position will be filled in 
accordance with Policy Admin 136, Scheduling Employee Overtime. 
 
If a Company Officer vacancy creates more than one long-term acting position, all 
positions shall be filled no later than 30 days from the date of the original vacancy.  

EXAMPLE: The Captain goes out on Long Term Disability, which causes a 
Lieutenant to be moved into a long-term role, which causes a Driver/Engineer to 
be moved into a long-term role, which causes a Firefighter to be moved into a 
long-term role.  All positions shall be filled on the same day.  The exception would 
be if the notifications, processes, etc. exceed 30 days. If this occurs, then the Union 
shall be notified of the delay. 
 
Employees assigned by the Fire Chief or designee to an Acting position shall 
receive the hourly rate of pay for those replacements based upon the starting pay 
for the position being replaced, as stated in Article 26, Wage Scale Matrix, or a 
minimum of 104% of the employee’s current rate of pay, whichever is greater. 
 
In the event that an employee has been reduced in classification, that employee 
shall stay on top of the applicable Long-Term Acting List for the respective 
position. If there is more than one employee who has been reduced in 
classification (from the same rank), the employee who was originally promoted to 
the respective position first shall be on top of the Long-Term Acting List. Multiple 
employees reduced in Classification for the same position shall rotate Long-Term 
Acting opportunities.  If the Department is unable to fill a long-term acting position 
with an employee who was reduced in classification, the Department shall follow 
the normal Long-Term Acting List. 
 
Employees shall not be moved or alternated to avoid a promotion.  If an 
appointment for a specific long-term acting position extends beyond nine (9) 
months, then the Department shall complete the promotion per policy and offer 
the promotion within one week after the nine-month date of vacancy.  If the 
Department does not identify and promote a candidate within one week (seven 
days) after the nine-month date of vacancy, the employee(s) who are promoted 
shall receive retroactive pay for the promotion from the deadline.  The promotion 



37 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

and retroactive pay may not be nullified by the employee creating the vacancy 
returning after the vacancy. 

EXCEPTION: The above time frame may be adjusted if mutually agreed upon by 
the Union and the Department.  The employee has up to 24 hours after confirmed 
contact to accept or decline the offered position. 
 
If the Department receives written notification from the employee's physician that 
the length of the disability will exceed nine months, then the Department shall 
attempt to promote an employee using the normal process within two weeks of 
receiving the notification.  If it can’t be completed in two weeks, the Union shall 
be notified as to why and when the promotion shall occur. 
 
Employees who are promoted at the nine-month date of vacancy shall begin 
accruing time in grade and begin their probation based on Article 20 Probationary 
Term of Employment or Promotion.  These employees shall start their probation 
after they have been promoted on the ninth month plus one day.  They shall 
accrue a month of credit towards their probation for every full 30-day increment 
that they work, in case they are later reduced in classification. 

EXAMPLE: A Firefighter is assigned a long-term acting assignment for an injured 
Lieutenant.  The Lieutenant is off for nine (9) months, triggering the promotion.  
The Lieutenant returns to work 80 days later.  The Firefighter gets promoted after 
(nine) 9 months, starts their probation and then is reduced in rank back to 
Firefighter with two (2) months of probation and time in grade completed. 

 
If there is a reduction of force or reduction in classification (Article 15 Reduction 
in Force and Reduction in Classification), the promoted employee(s) shall not lose 
their accumulated time in grade. Those employees affected by the reduction in 
classification will not continue to accumulate time in grade until those employees 
move back to their promoted position, from which they were reduced.  



38 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 25: Salary Calculations and Pay Periods 

Section A Employees covered by this Agreement shall be compensated in accordance with 
Article 26, Wage Scale Matrix. 

Section B An employee’s monthly salary includes the position pay, longevity pay, and 
applicable specialty pay and premiums as indicated per the contractual wage scale 
matrix. 

The annual salary is determined by multiplying the monthly salary by twelve (12).  

The employee’s hourly rate of pay is determined by dividing the annual salary by 
the appropriate number of hours assigned to the employee in a typical year.  

Section C Payroll will be processed twice per month under the following schedule: 

• Full payroll will be processed the Monday prior to the second regularly 
scheduled Commissioners’ meeting each month. This processing will include 
all overtime hours accounted for on the certified daily log up to the processing 
day noted above, plus the monthly salaries.  Payroll for this processing will be 
released the second to the last working day of the month. 

• An overtime only payroll will be processed the second to last working day of 
the month.  This processing will include only overtime hours accounted for on 
the certified daily logs by this date.  Payroll for this processing period will be 
paid on the 15th of each month.  If the 15th falls on a Saturday, payment will be 
made on the preceding Friday.  If the 15th falls on a Sunday, payment will be 
made on the following Monday. 

  



39 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 26: Wage Scale Matrix 

Section A All percentage amounts listed on the Wage Scale Matrix contained in this Article 
26 are based on the top-step Firefighter position pay (100%) unless otherwise 
stated in the contract article(s). 

Section B Effective January 1, 2025, the top-step Firefighter salary shall increase by four and 
sixty-eight hundredths’ percent (4.68%), resulting in a new monthly salary of 
$11,175.11. 

Section C Effective January 1, 2026, the top-step Firefighter salary shall be increased by two 
and seven-tenths (2.7%), CPI-U June 2024 to June 2025 - All Users Seattle / Tacoma 
/ Bellevue. 

Section D Effective January 1, 2027, the top-step Firefighter salary shall be increased by CPI-
U June 2025 to June 2026 - All Users Seattle / Tacoma / Bellevue. If CPI-U is 
negative, there shall be no change to the top-step Firefighter salary.  



40 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

 

Monthly Salary:  Uniform CBA

Rank/Grade:
0 – 12 

Months
13 - 24 25 - 36

*Top Step FF 
37+ Months

Firefighter 7,822.58  8,940.09 10,057.60 11,175.11  
Percentage of Top Step FF

Lateral FF based on previous months of experience

Hourly Rate $37.61 $42.98 $48.35 $53.73

Rescue Firefighter 102.0% 54.80 11,398.61      

Driver-Engineer 106.0% 56.95 11,845.62      

Driver-Rescue 108.0% 58.02 12,069.12      

Tractor Driver 108.0% 58.02 12,069.12      

Paramedic 118.0% 63.40 13,186.63      

Lieutenant 118.0% 63.40 13,186.63      

LCO 120.0% 64.47 13,410.13      

Captain 127.0% 68.23 14,192.39      

MSO 134.0% 71.99 14,974.65      

Deputy Fire Marshal: 0-24 Months 110.0% 59.10 12,292.62      

Deputy Fire Marshal: 25-48 Months 115.0% 61.79 12,851.38      

Deputy Fire Marshal: 48+ Months 120.0% 64.47 13,410.13      

Assistant Fire Marshal 127.0% 68.23 14,192.39      

PE / CSO / PIO-SMC: 0-24 Months 108.0% 58.02 12,069.12      

PE / CSO / PIO-SMC: 25-36 Months 110.0% 59.10 12,292.62      

PE / CSO / PIO-SMC: 37-48 Months 112.0% 60.17 12,516.12      

PE / CSO / PIO-SMC: 48+ Months 115.0% 61.79 12,851.38      

Company Officer-FMO: 0-12 Months 123.0% 66.08 13,745.39      

Company Officer-FMO: 13-24 Months 124.0% 66.62 13,857.14      

Company Officer-FMO: 25-36 Months 127.0% 68.23 14,192.39      

Incentive Pay:

Day Shift Premium 4.0% 2.15 447.00           

Aid Car Premium 5.0% 2.69

Training Premium 9.0% 4.84

Ladder Station - Tiller/tailboard - Seat pay 2.0% 1.07

Rescue Swimmer - Team Member 1.5% 0.81 167.63           

Paramedic School Premium 4.0% 2.15 447.00           

Suppression Lieutenant Medic Certification 4.0% 2.15 447.00           

Lieutenant/Captain/Actor Instructing at an academy 9.0% 4.84 1,005.76        

Fire/EMS Academy Lead Instructor or EMT Instructor / SEI 10.0% 5.37 1,117.51        

BLS Run Review QI Assignment 1.5% 0.81 167.63           

Education:

King County ODA Certification or Fire Officer II* 0.5% 0.27 55.88             

Associate's Degree* 1.5% 0.81 167.63           

Bachelor's Degree* 2.0% 1.07 223.50           

Master's Degree or above* 2.5% 1.34 279.38           

EMS (R0150) and R0151* 0.5% 0.27 55.88             

Seattle Executive Leadership Academy* 0.5% 0.27 55.88             

Executive Fire Officer (EFO)* 1.5% 0.81 167.63           

Longevity Premiums:

5 Years 2.0% 223.50           

10 Years 4.0% 447.00           

15 Years 6.0% 670.51           

20 Years 8.0% 894.01           

25 Years 10.0% 1,117.51        

30 Years 12.0% 1,341.01        

35 Years 14.0% 1,564.52        

*  See Article 43 Education Incentive

Shoreline Fire Department
2025 WAGE SCALE CPI-U:  January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2027

70% 80% 90% 100%



41 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section E Position Pay 

The pay for each position is listed in the wage scale matrix and is based on 
the top-step firefighter.  

Section F Short-Term Acting Pay 

Short-Term Actors will only receive acting pay when assigned to acting 
position by a Battalion Chief/MSO or filling a promoted position on a 
general recall. 

Section G Aid Car Premium 

All employees working regular hours on a dedicated aid car shall be paid a 
5% hourly aid car premium of the top-step Firefighter hourly rate, when 
working on an aid car.  

Section H Dayshift Premium 

The day shift premium shall be applied to an employee’s salary when they 
are temporarily, for up to one year, assigned to a day shift position or 
another special assignment as appointed by the Fire Chief or designee.  
Shift premium pay does not apply to employees assigned to days as a result 
of a light-duty assignment. 

Section I Lieutenant with a Paramedic Certification 

A 4% premium shall be applied to Paramedics who, by mutual agreement, 
make a lateral transfer out of the Medic Program to an Officer’s position 
and maintain their Paramedic certification (subject to Article 16 Paramedic 
Promotion Out of the Program/Decertification). The premium also applies 
to a Paramedic who is assigned as a long-term acting Lieutenant. 

Section J Lateral Hire Starting Pay 

Employees hired as part of a lateral hiring class will receive credit for the 
number of years of professional, full-time, suppression fire service 
experience they have as if they were originally hired with the Shoreline Fire 
Department as an entry level Firefighter. 

Section K Note:  While in Fire Prevention, Devon Wesenberg is eligible to receive 
position pay equal to 125%.  If Wesenberg leaves Fire Prevention, 
Wesenberg shall not receive salary increases until the position pay for the 
new position matches or exceeds the previous position. 

  

DRS Entry Date DRS Gap in Months SFD Longevity Date
8/1/2024 2.00 10/1/2024



42 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 27: Longevity Pay 

Section A Longevity pay shall be based on the employee’s fire department LEOFF2 entry 
date as follows: 

Years of Service Longevity Pay 
5 Years 2%   Top-step Firefighter Pay 
10 Years 4%   Top-step Firefighter Pay 
15 Years 6%   Top-step Firefighter Pay 
20 Years 8%   Top-step Firefighter Pay 
25 Years 10%   Top-step Firefighter Pay 
30 Years 12%  Top-step Firefighter Pay  
35 Years 14%  Top-step Firefighter Pay 

Section B If an employee has a gap in service credits, prior to employment with the 
Department, their longevity date will be adjusted accordingly. A gap in service will 
be determined by looking at the employee’s DRS Entry Date and total service 
credits per DRS. Upon request, an employee’s service record will be evaluated and 
discussed between Labor and Management. 

 
For example, if Firefighter Smith’s DRS entry date is 8/1/2024 for a total of 8 
months of service, but only has 6 service credit months per DRS, then FF Smith’s 
longevity date would be 10/1/2024.  

 
  

  



43 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 28: Replacement Shifts and Overtime Compensation 

Section A Replacement Shifts: 

When a vacancy is created by vacation leave, sick leave, school, disability leave, or 
any other reason which lowers the shift below the Department's established 
minimum or operational staffing level as defined in Administrative Policy 127, 
Apparatus Staffing – Personnel Utilization, it shall be filled utilizing replacements 
consistent with Administrative Policy 136 Scheduling of Employee Overtime. 
 
Qualified employees assigned to the day shift shall be eligible to fill replacement 
shifts up to twenty (20) hours per month during their regular forty (40) hour work 
week. This shall not preclude them from filling shifts in non-routine situations such 
as classes and meetings, or as a regular overtime shift replacement outside of their 
regular forty (40) hour work week. 
 
Employees filling replacement shifts shall be entitled to overtime pay at the rate 
of time and one-half their hourly rate of pay, or time and one-half the starting rate 
of pay for the position filled, whichever is greater.  See Article 30 Holiday Time Off 
and Holiday Pay for pay when working on a Holiday. 

Section B Overtime 

An employee shall be entitled to overtime pay at the rate of time and one-half the 
employee's regular hourly rate of pay, and any amount worked past the set time 
amounts shall receive further compensation in increments of fifteen (15) minutes, 
under the following conditions: 

1. When an employee is required to work beyond the employee's regular shift, 
they shall be compensated for a minimum of thirty (30) minutes at time and a 
half. 

2. When an employee has to provide another employee with early relief so they 
can change stations, they shall be compensated for a minimum of thirty (30) 
minutes at time and a half. The amount of time depends on the distance 
between stations and the time of day. 

3. The MSO that is coming onto (default) or leaving shift shall receive fifteen (15) 
minutes of straight time to follow the controlled drug exchange procedure. 

4. When an off-duty employee is required or toned out to respond to an 
emergency or service call, they shall be compensated with a minimum of two 
(2) hours of overtime pay. This shall also include employees who arrived for an 
overtime shift that has been canceled. 

5. When an off-duty employee is required to attend meetings in person or be on 
standby at court on behalf of the Department, meetings such as staff 
meetings, run review, special drills, CBT class, or other such meetings, they 
shall be compensated for a minimum of two (2) hours of overtime. When 



44 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

approved to attend a meeting virtually, the minimum overtime is reduced to 
30 minutes. 

6. When an off-duty Paramedic is required to attend Tuesday Series in person, 
they shall be compensated for a minimum of four (4) hours of overtime.  If 
attending Tuesday Series virtually then the minimum time is reduced to three 
(3) hours. 

7. When an off-duty employee is assigned to teach a CPR or CBT Class, they shall 
be compensated for a minimum of four (4) hours of overtime. 

8. When an off-duty employee is scheduled to instruct a class on behalf of the 
Department, they shall be compensated for actual hours instructing and 
reasonable preparation and cleanup time with a two (2) hour minimum. 

Section C Compensatory/Debit Compensatory Time 

Any employee entitled to overtime pay under this Article may elect to receive 
compensatory time at the rate of time and one-half in lieu of monetary payment 
at the same rate.  Compensatory time may be accrued up to a maximum of ninety-
six (96) hours.  Compensatory time shall be allowed to be carried over from one 
year to the next. Upon termination or retirement, employees shall be 
compensated at their regular hourly rate of pay for all compensatory hours 
accrued. 
 
Compensatory time and debit compensatory time shall be used in accordance 
with Administration Policy 108 Scheduling Optional Time Off and Trades. 
Each employee’s bank of compensatory time will be maintained at a maximum 
balance of ninety-six (96) hours or less using the following process: 

1. The maximum balance of ninety-six (96) hours will be calculated by applying 
compensatory time as it is earned, minus all pre-approved and scheduled 
compensatory time off (within the current calendar year). 

2. The maximum comp time that an employee can carry over into the following 
year is 96 hours. Employees have the option to schedule comp time off in the 
following year. Comp time scheduled off in the following year will count 
towards the maximum the employee can roll over into the following year. 
Comp time hours in excess of 96 will be cashed out at the employee’s current 
(regular) rate of pay. 

3. All excess hours will be automatically processed for payment to the employee 
within 45 days of the shift that brought the balance over the max. At the end 
of the year, all excess hours will be cashed out immediately unless scheduled 
off. This will occur in the December end of the month payroll.  



45 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

When an employee cancels compensatory time, the time will be added back in to 
the employee’s bank of compensatory time. In circumstances when the 
cancellation of compensatory time off or accumulation of comp time results in a 
balance exceeding the maximum allowable hours, one of the following shall occur: 

1. The employee shall (at the same time of cancellation) request and receive 
approval for compensatory time off to reduce the compensatory bank to, or 
below, the maximum ninety-six (96) hours, 

OR 

2. Transfer the excess to their Debit Compensatory Time Off Bank, 

OR 

3. All excess hours will be automatically processed for payment to the employee 
within the next 45 days. 

Debit Compensatory time can be accrued up to 144 hours.  The hours can only be 
used to reduce Work Back (WB) days. They can be used for the current year, during 
WB scheduling, used for the next year or rolled over. Once the hours are in the 
WB Comp Time bank, they have to be used to reduce WB days. WB Comp hours 
that exceed 144 hours can be cashed out or transferred.  Refer to policy Admin 
108, Scheduling Optional Time Off and Trades for specific details. 
 
The maximum balance of one hundred forty-four (144) hours will be calculated by 
applying Debit Compensatory time as it is earned minus all pre-approved and 
scheduled Debit Compensatory time off (within the current calendar year). 
The maximum debit comp time that an employee can carry over into the following 
year is 144 hours. Employees have the option to schedule debit comp time off in 
the following year. Debit comp time scheduled off in the following year will count 
towards the max the employee can roll over into the following year. 

Section D Hobo Pay 

Hobo pay is authorized for a short-notice move of employees from their previously 
assigned station to an alternate station.  This applies to contractual (regular and 
debit) shifts.  Short notice is defined as after an employee’s last shift worked. 
When the employee is re-directed to another station prior to 0800 hours, the 
employee will be compensated for thirty (30) minimum minutes of overtime.  If 
the employee or supervisor chooses to wait until 0800 hours to relocate, the 
employee holding over will be compensated for thirty (30) minutes minimum of 
overtime or actual time, whichever is greater. 
 
An employee working consecutive shifts at different stations shall remain on the 
payroll while traveling between stations. 
 



46 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Trades will not create a situation where compensation is required except for 
employee relocations during the middle of their shift. 

Section E Station Transfer Pay 

When an employee is required to relocate to a different station while on duty and 
a Department vehicle is not available, they shall be compensated at a rate of 
$10.00 in lieu of mileage allowance. If an employee is moved between stations 
multiple times the employee will receive Station Transfer Pay each time the 
employee is moved stations. 
 
Having to move stations due to a trade being at a different station shall not create 
Station Transfer pay. If the employee is moved while on duty during a trade the 
employee will qualify for Station Transfer pay.  



47 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 29: Specialty Assignments and Pay 

Section A Technical Staff Assignments: 

Eligibility & Compensation: Technical staff assignments shall be filled by 
Firefighters or Driver/Engineers who have completed probation with the Shoreline 
Fire Department. 
 
Each assignment receives 1.5% of the top-step Firefighter base pay. 
 
Annual Review: By December 1 of each year, either the Department or the Union 
may initiate a reopener of Section A to modify the list or number of technical staff 
assignments. 

2025–2027 Technical Staff Assignment List: 

Staff Assignment Number of Employees 
Personal Protective Equipment 3 
Respiratory Protection 3 

Radios 2 
Pagers / Active 911 1 
BLS Supply Manager 1 
Fitness Coordinator* 1 

Cell Phones 1 

*Fitness Coordinator will not receive premium pay until the position is filled. 
Vacancies & Duration: Vacancies will be filled per Admin Policy 124.3 –
Appointment Guidelines. 
 
Employees retain the assignment unless promoted to an officer position or out of 
the bargaining unit, the assignment is eliminated, or the employee resigns. 
 
Transition Pay: 2024 peer fitness instructors will receive premium pay until the 
2025 contract is signed. 

Section B Rescue Station Assignments: 

Position Count 
Rescue Captains 4 

Rescue Drivers 4 

Rescue Firefighters 12 

• Rescue Captain: Promoted position 
• Rescue Driver: Appointed promoted position 
• Rescue Firefighter: Appointed position  



48 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Compensation & Conditions: Appointed employees receive their current position 
pay unless promoted out of the station, appointment is removed, or they resign 
from the position.  Qualified, short-term Acting Officers and Drivers at the Rescue 
Station will receive the 2% premium. 
 
Annual Assignment Review: The Deputy Chief of Operations shall evaluate all 
Rescue Station assignments annually, with input from the assigned Battalion 
Chief, to determine continuation or reassignment. 
 
Assignment Notification: Assignment notifications shall be provided no later than 
the shift assignment deadline in Article 23 Contractual Hours. 
If no notification is given, the employee will remain assigned and continue 
receiving the Rescue Station premium for the upcoming year. 
 
Transition Pay: The Technical Rescue Team ends on January 2, 2025. All previous 
members who are not assigned to the Rescue or Ladder Station shall have their 
pay frozen until their new position pay catches up from promotion or COLA 
increase. 

Section C Ladder Station Assignments: 

Position Count 
Ladder Company Officers (LCO) 4 
Tractor Drivers 4 
Ladder Firefighters 12 

• LCO: Appointed Lieutenant 
• Tractor Drivers: Promoted position 
• Ladder Firefighters: Appointed 

Compensation & Conditions: Appointed employees are paid their current rate 
unless promoted out of the station, appointment is removed, or they resign from 
the position.  Firefighters operating the tiller seat (or riding tailboard when the 
Ladder is OOS) receive the tiller seat premium.  Qualified, short-term Acting 
Officers and Drivers at the Ladder Station will receive the 2% premium. 
 
Currently, Captain Eric Zender is the fifth Captain and is assigned to the Ladder 
Station. When Captain Zender leaves the Ladder Station, either by promotion or 
separation, Labor and Management agree to negotiate the impact of the 
reduction in the number of Captains on Platoon Shift. 
 
Annual Assignment Review: The Deputy Chief of Operations shall evaluate all 
Ladder Station assignments annually, with input from the assigned Battalion Chief, 
to determine continuation or reassignment. 



49 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

 
Assignment Notification: Assignment notifications shall be provided no later than 
the shift assignment deadline in Article 23 Contractual Hours. 
If no notification is given, the employee will remain assigned and continue 
receiving the Ladder Station premium for the upcoming year. 
 
Transition Pay: The Technical Rescue Team ends on January 2nd, 2025. All 
previous members who are not assigned to the Rescue or Ladder Station shall 
have their pay frozen until their new position pay catches up from promotion or 
COLA increase. 

Section D Water Rescue Team (WRT): 
1. Composed of 34 employees on Platoon Shift or in Training. 
2. Members must meet qualifications outlined in TRNG 618 Qualification of 

Members for Positions/Duties and Ops 225 Technical Rescue. 
3. Compensated at Firefighter-Water Rescue Technician premium pay. 
4. Vacancies filled according to Admin Policy 124.3 – Appointment Guidelines. 

Section E Wildland Team: 
1. Up to 40 positions available. 
2. Deployment numbers are determined by Management. 
3. The Deputy Chief of Operations shall evaluate all Wildland Team assignments 

annually, with input from the Team Coordinator, to determine continuation or 
reassignment. 

Section F Hazmat Team: 
1. If the Department establishes a Hazmat Team, it shall include a minimum of 

two (2) Hazmat Technicians assigned per shift. 
2. Compensated at Firefighter-Hazmat Technician premium pay (2%). 

Section G: Training Division Assignments: 

Position Count 
Suppression Training Captains 2 

Training Medical Services Officer 1 
Training Paramedic 1 

1. Personnel assigned to the above positions shall receive the training premium. 
2. Typical term: 3 years, staggered, with flexibility by mutual agreement. 
3. Premium pay is frozen upon reassignment until the new position pay catches 

up. 



50 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

4. Voluntary departure (after 36 months) or involuntary reassignment before 36 
months also triggers a pay freeze. 

5. Vacancies filled per Admin Policy 124.3 Appointment Guidelines. 
6. If there are no applicants, the assignment shall be made based on reverse 

seniority, provided the employee has a minimum of three years in rank. If no 
employee within the classification meets the three-year requirement, the 
position shall be assigned to the most senior employee within the classification 
who is currently assigned to the position. 

7. An employee cannot be assigned if they have just completed a three-year term 
in training. 

8. Training Captain and MSO roles are provisional promotions as a result of their 
assignment to the Training Division. If either position is filled by a permanent 
(hard-bar) promotion, the resulting shift vacancy shall be filled through the 
normal promotional process. 

9. The Training Paramedic position may be temporarily vacated if the total 
number of operational Firefighter-Paramedics on shift falls below twenty-four 
(24) and the vacancy is expected to last more than ninety (90) days. If the 
Training Paramedic is reassigned to a platoon shift during this time, the 
employee shall continue to receive credit toward their time served in the 
Training Paramedic position. 

Section H Fire and EMT Academy Instructors: 
1. Primary instructors must be suppression Company Officers off probation. 
2. If no volunteers, Acting Officers or the least senior off-probation Officer (not 

from the last academy) may be assigned once. 
3. Promoted DEs (Tractor or Rescue Drivers) may volunteer, if there is a need for 

a second instructor role, and will receive the training premium. 
4. Lead Roles: 

• Lead Academy Instructor: Oversees daily academy operations/logistics. 

• Lead Senior EMS Instructor: Required when Shoreline leads EMT 
academies. 

Section I Suppression Officer Assigned to Fire Prevention: 

1. One Captain or Lieutenant assigned annually (extendable by mutual 
agreement). 

2. Reports to the Fire Marshal. 
3. Receives premium per Article 26; pay frozen after 12 months and Inspector I 

qualification. 
4. Post-assignment, no increases until the reassigned position pay catches up. 
5. Assignment offered to the most senior in grade who applies by Sept 1. 



51 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

6. If no applicants, the least senior off-probation Suppression Officer assigned. 
7. Cannot be reassigned to this role more than once. 
8. Must be allowed 2 years on a 24-hour shift before reassignment to another 

day shift role. 

Section J BLS Run Review QI Assignment (BLS/RR): 

1. Assigned to Paramedics with at least 1 year in grade. The BLS/RR role during a 
long-term acting assignment will be reviewed by the DC of Operations on a 
case-by-case basis. 

2. Three per shift. 
3. Assigned annually by November 1st for a January 1st thru December 31st 

term. 
4. If not notified of a change by November 1st, the employee has the option to 

continue in the position for an additional year. 
5. The BLS/RR position is an annual assignment made by the Deputy Chief of 

Operations in coordination with the Division Chief of EMS, Human Resources, 
and a Labor representative. 

Section K Public Information/Education Officer (PIO/PEO): 

1. Open to any post-probation member. 
2. Reports to Fire Marshal; part of Community Outreach Division. 
3. EMT certification required. 
4. The PIO/PEO is not required to maintain their firefighting requirements unless 

they want to maintain eligibility to work in a suppression position. 
5. No on-call or residency requirement. 
6. Receives 2-hour minimum overtime for incident responses at IC request. 
7. Assigned per Admin Policy 124.3 Appointment Guidelines; premium per 

Article 26 Wage Scale Matrix. 
8. Pay is frozen after 36 months until reassigned position pay catches up. 
9. If no internal applicants, position may be filled externally. 

Section L Community Services Officer (CSO): 

1. Reports to the Division Chief of EMS under MIH/CMT program. 
2. EMT certification required. 
3. The CSO is not required to maintain their firefighting requirements unless they 

want to maintain eligibility to work in a suppression position. 
4. No on-call or residency requirement. 
5. Pay frozen after 36 months until reassigned position pay catches up. 
6. May be filled externally if no internal candidates apply.  



52 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section M Deputy Fire Marshal / Assistant Fire Marshal: 

1. If maintaining operational response eligibility, then they must maintain 
Firefighter/EMT qualifications. 

2. A total of three people within these positions have the option to not maintain 
their EMT certification (be a Firefighter only) or choose not to maintain any 
Firefighter/EMT physical requirements. 

  



53 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 30: Holiday Time Off and Holiday Pay 

Section A Department Holiday Schedule – Day Shift 

The following dates are recognized as holidays and shall be observed by 
Department employees working the day shift schedule: 

New Year's Day January 1 
Martin Luther King Day Third Monday in January 
President’s Day Third Monday in February 
Memorial Day Last Monday in May 
Juneteenth June 19 
Independence Day July 4 
Labor Day First Monday in September 
Veteran's Day November 11 
Thanksgiving Day Fourth Thursday in November 
Native American Heritage Day Fourth Friday in November 
Christmas Day December 25 

Section B Holidays – Day Shift 

Annual Allotment: Day-shift employees receive 120 hours of holiday leave per 
calendar year. These hours are used for each recognized Department holiday.  
Employees hired during the year shall receive 10 hours of holiday leave per month, 
starting with the month of hire and will receive Department holidays off during 
their first month, regardless of holiday hour accrual. 
 
Holidays on Scheduled Days Off: If a Department holiday falls on an employee’s 
regular day off, another day off will be scheduled within the same calendar year, 
following vacation scheduling guidelines. This requires prior approval from the 
employee’s supervisor. 
 
Unused Holiday Hours: Any holiday hours not used must be scheduled like 
vacation and taken before the end of the calendar year. 
 
Fire Investigators on Holidays: If an on-call Fire Investigator is deployed on a 
holiday, they are paid double time for all hours worked. 

Section C Holiday Pay – Four-Platoon Shift 

Annual reduction in scheduled Hours: All employees working a four-platoon shift 
shall have their yearly scheduled contractual required hours reduced by one 
hundred twenty (120) hours in lieu of the recognized holidays. Employees hired 
during the calendar year shall receive credit for the full month in which they start, 
with holiday hours pro-rated at ten (10) hours per month for auditing and 
scheduling purposes. 
 



54 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Christmas Day Premium Pay  
All employees scheduled to work a four-platoon shift on Christmas Day between 
0000 hours and 2400 hours shall receive two (2) times their base hourly rate of 
pay for all hours worked during that period. 
 
Holiday Overtime Compensation 
Employees working overtime on any of the recognized holidays shall be paid at a 
rate of double time their hourly rate of pay, or double time the starting rate of pay 
for the position filled, whichever is greater. Employees working mandatory 
overtime on a holiday shall receive triple time their rate of pay. These holiday pay 
rates apply to the 0800–0800 shift. 

 

Holidays for the purposes of this section shall be: 

New Year's Day   January 1 
Martin Luther King Day  Third Monday in January 
Presidents Day   Third Monday in February 
Memorial Day    Last Monday in May 
Juneteenth    June 19 
Independence Day   July 4 
Labor Day    First Monday in September 
Veteran's Day    November 11 
Thanksgiving Day   Fourth Thursday in November 
Christmas Eve    December 24 
Christmas Day    December 25 

  



55 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 31: Sick Leave 

Section A Sick Leave Accrual 

Employees enrolled in the LEOFF2 Retirement System accumulate sick leave as 
follows: 

1. Employees assigned to the four-platoon shift shall accumulate paid sick leave 
at the rate of eighteen (18) hours for each full month. A maximum of 1,416 
hours for 2025 and 1,440 for 2026 and forward of accumulated sick leave shall 
be allowed to be carried over each succeeding year.  

2. Employees assigned to day shift shall accumulate paid sick leave at the rate of 
fourteen and one-half (14.5) hours for each full month of service. A maximum 
of 1,416 hours for 2025 and 1,440 for 2026 and forward of accumulated sick 
leave shall be allowed to be carried over each succeeding year. 

3. Sick leave shall not accrue during layoff, unpaid leave of absence or when 
utilizing Article 34 Leave of Absence. 

Section B New employees will be provided with two hundred sixteen (216) hours for shift 
personnel, and one hundred seventy-four (174) hours for day-shift personnel, of 
sick leave at their time of hire, but will not accrue further sick leave consistent 
with Section A until starting their 13th month of employment.  If the employee 
separates from the Department before completing twelve months of service, the 
initial awarded sick leave will be subject to repayment on a prorated basis. 

Section C Temporary Duty Disability (TDD) – Wellness Exam Participants 

When an employee completes the full wellness exam (physical and hearing test) 
in a given calendar year and they experience TDDs in the subsequent year, they 
shall be covered for a period of time not to exceed a total of six (6) months (182 
days) at their current rate of pay. This shall be accomplished through a 
combination of Labor and Industries time loss payments with the balance 
supplemented by the Department to make the employee whole. Such supplement 
shall not be charged against the employee’s sick leave. During the Labor and 
Industries approved time loss, the employee shall continue to receive benefits.  
The same claim that carries over to the following year may get additional time 
depending on the wellness exam status for that year. However, an employee 
cannot exceed 182 days for any single claim, even if it carries over into another 
year where they have more days available. However, the employee can have 
multiple claims in a year and receive up to a total of 182 days. When an employee 
completes the annual wellness physical off duty, they shall be paid three (3) hours 
of overtime. 

 
When an employee completes the modified wellness exam (physical and hearing 
test) in a given calendar year and they experience TDDs in the subsequent year, 
they shall be covered for a period of time not to exceed a total of three (3) months 



56 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

(91 days) at their current rate of pay. This shall be accomplished through a 
combination of Labor and Industries time loss payments, with the balance 
supplemented by the Department to make the employee whole. Such supplement 
shall not be charged against the employee’s sick leave.  During the Labor and 
Industries approved time loss, the employee shall continue to receive benefits.  
The same claim that carries over to the following year may get additional time 
depending on the wellness exam status for that year. However, an employee 
cannot exceed 91 days for any single claim, even if it carries over into another year 
where they have more days available.  However, the employee can have multiple 
claims in a year and receive up to a total of 91 days. When an employee completes 
the modified annual wellness physical off duty, they shall be paid one and one-
half (1.5) hours of overtime. 

 
Using DRS Method 1, the Department shall report full monthly salary and service 
credit for all LEOFF2 employees receiving wellness program supplement during 
periods of TDD.  The required member contributions shall be deducted from the 
employee’s monthly paycheck upon receipt of notice of the time loss payment.  In 
circumstances where the employee receives combined time loss payments for 
periods in excess of one month, the contributions shall be deducted over several 
consecutive months.  The contribution shall be processed as a post-tax deduction. 
Reference: DRS Employer Notice: 17-007. 
 
If the TDD exceeds the wellness supplement period, then the Department shall 
provide additional supplement in accordance with RCW 41.04.500 using the 
approved Form.  DRS Method 1 shall not be applied and actual reportable hours 
and compensation shall be recorded with the Department of Retirement Systems.  
Prior to retirement, the employee shall have the option to contact the Department 
of Retirement Systems directly to purchase up to twenty-four (24) months of 
additional service credit, of which six (6 months) is interest-free. 

 
SPECIAL NOTE: Employer contributions to the disability leave supplement 
provision do not qualify as basic salary and are not reportable; however, accrued 
leave hours are reportable. 

EXAMPLES: See scenarios below for examples of the benefit. 

Example 1 
2019 Full Wellness exam completed 
2020 182 Days available for 2020  
2020 No wellness exam completed 
2021 L&I Approved Claim – no days available for 2021 

  



57 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Scenario:  Employee has an approved Labor and Industries claim for December 1 
– 31, 2020. This is the first claim for the employee for 2020. The employee is made 
whole for 31 days since there are 182 days remaining for 2020. Since the employee 
did not complete a wellness exam in 2020 (even if they are still receiving time 
loss), they are not eligible for make whole in 2021. So, total days is 31. 

Example 2 
2019 Full Wellness exam completed 
2020 182 Days available for 2020  
2020 Modified Wellness exam completed 
2021 L&I Approved Claim – 91 days available for 2021 

Scenario:  Employee has an approved Labor and Industries claim for December 1 
– April 30, 2021. This is the first claim for the employee for 2020. The employee is 
made whole for 31 days in 2020 (Dec 1-31) since there is still some of the 182 days 
remaining from 2020. While the claim is eligible for 182 days total, the employee 
is only eligible for an additional 91 days in 2021 since they took a modified in 2020. 
The total this claim shall receive is 31 days (Dec 2020), 31 (Jan 2021), 28 (Feb 
2021), 31 (Mar 2021) and 1 (Apr 1) for a total of 122 hours. This represents 31 days 
in 2021 and 91 days in 2021, which is the maximum available for 2021. If the 
employee has another claim in 2021, they shall not be eligible to be made whole 
since they only had a modified exam the previous year. 

Section D Temporary Duty Disability (TDD) – No Wellness Exam  

Employees not completing either wellness exam in a given calendar year who have 
a TDD in the subsequent year shall be supplemented by the Department in 
accordance with RCW 41.04.500 to make their gross monthly base pay check 
whole.  However, the employee shall use accrued paid leave hours to supplement 
the time loss.  Actual reportable hours and compensation shall be recorded with 
the Department of Retirement Systems.  The employee shall have the option to 
contact the Department of Retirement Systems directly to purchase up to twenty-
four (24) months of additional service credit, of which six (6 months) is interest 
free. During the Labor and Industries approved time loss, the employee shall 
continue to receive benefits. 

 
The full wellness exam, modified wellness exam, and time loss supplement forms 
may be updated and/or changed by mutual agreement of the Labor Management 
Committee. 

 
A new employee shall be covered during their first and second calendar year of 
employment as though they completed the full wellness exam. To be covered 
during the third year of employment, the new employee will need to complete 
either wellness exam. 
 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=41.04.500


58 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section E When on extended sick leave, employees may be assigned to light duty according 
to policy Admin 118 (Assignment to Light Duty). 

Section F If an employee has an injury or illness associated with Department promotional 
testing or Department approved outside training the Department will support the 
condition as an on-the-job injury or illness. 

Section G Paid sick leave may be used for the following reasons: 

1. For self-care or to care for a family member: 
• Due to a mental or physical illness, injury, or health condition; 
• To obtain medical diagnosis, care, or treatment of mental or physical 

illnesses, injuries, or health conditions; or 
• To receive preventative care. 

2. For absences that qualify for leave under the Domestic Violence Leave Act, 
RCW 49.76; 

3. In the event that Shoreline Fire Department is closed by a public official for 
any health-related reason, or when an employee's child's school or place of 
care is closed by a public official for a health-related reason; 

4. To increase the employee's or a family member's safety, when the employee 
or the employee's family member has been a victim of trafficking under RCW 
9A.40.100; or 

5. For family and medical leave, available under federal law, state law, or local 
ordinance. 

For purposes of paid sick leave, a "family member" is: 
1. Child (including a biological, adopted, foster, step, or a child to whom the 

employee stands in loco parentis, is a legal guardian, or is a de facto parent 
regardless of age or dependency status); 

2. Biological, adoptive, de facto, or foster parent, stepparent, or legal guardian 
of an employee or the employee’s spouse or state registered domestic 
partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a 
minor child; 

3. Spouse or state registered domestic partner (including care for a pregnant 
spouse or state registered domestic partner and for prenatal examinations); 

4. Grandparent;  
5. Grandchild; or  
6. Sibling. 

Section H Employees must notify the Department of sick leave usage per Policy Admin 110 
Sick Leave, Extended Sick Leave, Disability Leave. Failure to do so may result in 
leave without pay or being considered absent without leave.  



59 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section I Requesting Verification 

For an employee who has used sick leave exceeding three (3) consecutive platoon 
shifts (24-hour shifts) or three (3) consecutive day shifts in a row (Dayshift), the 
Fire Chief may require verification that an employee’s use of paid sick leave is for 
an authorized purpose in accordance with RCW49.46.  If the Fire Chief requires 
verification, verification must be provided to the Department within a reasonable 
time period during or after the leave, not to exceed 16 calendar days from start 
date of leave, an extension may be mutually agreed. The Fire Chief’s requirement 
for verification may not result in an unreasonable burden or expense on the 
employee and may not exceed privacy or verification requirements. The employee 
may use sick leave to obtain verification from their personal doctor. 
 
For long-term absences, a reasonable interactive process may continue after an 
initial request for leave has been granted without a fairly specific return date.  For 
a fixed return date, the Department may not ask the employee to provide periodic 
updates, though it may reach out, on a reasonable basis, to check on the 
employee’s progress. 

Section J Fit for Duty 

The Department may require an employee on active duty to undergo an 
individualized fit-for-duty evaluation to ensure that employee is physically, 
mentally, and emotionally capable of performing their essential job functions 
Reasons that may trigger fit for duty evaluations are: 

1. Employees who have been out on extended medical leave or job-related 
injury. 

2. When a supervisor has a documented, reasonable basis to believe that an 
employee may be unable to perform essential job functions safely. 

3. Observable performance issues or behavioral concerns. 

The Administrative Director (HR) will oversee a fit-for-duty process for the 
Department. 
 
Employees required to undergo the fit for duty evaluation will be put on 
Administrative Paid Leave and will be evaluated by a Department assigned Doctor.  
Employees on Administrative Paid Leave are considered to be on duty and are 
required to attend evaluations as scheduled by the Department. 
 
If an employee is found to be fit for duty, then the employee shall return to duty. 
If the employee is found to be fit for modified duty, then the employee will return 
to modified duty. 
 



60 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

If an employee is found to be unfit for duty, moving forward (not retrospectively) 
the employee shall be able to use sick leave or optional time off in the order or 
their preference to cover time off.  
 
Statement: Management and Labor recognize the importance of employee well-
being and workplace safety. To support these priorities, both parties agree on the 
need for a clear, fair, and medically sound process to determine when an 
employee is fit to perform their duties. This process must respect employee rights 
while ensuring the safety of all personnel. 
 
The full fit for duty procedures, including evaluation criteria, timelines, and 
employee rights, will be outlined in a separate policy and procedure document 
developed and maintained in collaboration with the Union. 
 

Section K An employee who gives birth shall be made financially equivalent to “whole” by 
the Department for up to 12 consecutive weeks of medical recovery time 
immediately following birth and parental leave. The Department will contribute 
“top off” pay above Paid Family Medical Leave (PFML) (medical leave), if using 
PFML (medical leave).  If the employee is not using PFML, then the Department 
would pay the equivalent supplemental benefit amount as if they were using 
PFML.  The employee will have the option to use other accrued leave (example: 
sick, vacation, comp) if wanting to be made whole.  See Article 46 Paid Family 
Medical Leave for more information on PFML. 

Section L Sick Leave Incentive 

On January 1 of each year, employees with sick leave balances over the maximum 
allowable carry over amount listed in Section A shall have their sick leave balance 
reduced to the maximum allowable carry over amount.  The amount of hours the 
employee’s sick leave balance is reduced shall be paid at 50% of their hourly rate 
of pay into the 401(a) Plan by February 15. The hourly rate of pay will be their 
normal rate which the employee was paid on December 31 of the previous year. 

Section M Retirement 

Upon LEOFF retirement (does not include termination for cause), employees shall 
have 50%* of any unused sick leave hours remaining in their sick leave bank 
converted to a dollar value and contributed to either their IAFF MERP (Medical 
Expense Reimbursement Plan) account on a pre-tax basis or their HRA VEBA or 
equivalent health care trust account recognized by IRS code 501(c)(9).  The 
conversion rate shall be 50% of their actual sick leave hours at the time of 
retirement multiplied by their final hourly rate of pay. 
 
*The 50% numbers in the above paragraph will be 75% for any employee who 
gives notification by February 1st of the previous year and is not receiving the Post 
Employment Medical Benefits program. 



61 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

 
In the event of a line of duty death, employees shall have 100% of any unused sick 
leave hours remaining in their sick leave bank converted to a dollar amount based 
upon their hourly rate of pay. That amount shall be paid to their Department of 
Retirement Systems beneficiary(s). 

  



62 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 32: Vacation Leave 

Section A Vacation Accrual 

During 2025, vacation hours shall accrue monthly based on the following schedule 
and will become available for use on January 1 of the following year. 
 
Starting January 1, 2026, vacation hours shall accrue monthly and become 
available for use in the following month. 
 
Monthly Accrual Rates: 

Years of Service Day Shift  Four-Platoon Shift 
0   10.25 hrs  12.25 hrs 
1   11.25 hrs  14.25 hrs 
2   13.25 hrs  16.25 hrs 
3   15.25 hrs  18.25 hrs 
4   17.25 hrs  20.25 hrs 
9   18.25 hrs  22.25 hrs  
14   20.25 hrs  24.25 hrs 
19   22.25 hrs  26.25 hrs 
24   23.25 hrs  28.25 hrs 
29   25.25 hrs  30.25 hrs 
 
Firefighters who lateral into the Shoreline Fire Department through the Paramedic 
promotional process shall have their vacation accrual tier determined based on 
their original hire date with Bothell. 

Section B Vacation Payout at Separation 

Upon separation (including termination or retirement), employees shall receive 
payment for all unused and accrued vacation based on the number of full months 
worked and their regular hourly rate.  
 
If the employee has ten (10) or more years of service with Shoreline Fire 
Department, the payout will be split equally: 50% paid in cash and 50% 
contributed to their 401(a) Plan. 
 
If the employee has less than ten (10) years of service, the entire payout will be 
made in cash. 

Section C Vacation Scheduling 

Vacation scheduling shall be administered equitably and in accordance with 
Administrative Policy 108: Scheduling Optional Time Off and Trades.  



63 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section D Vacation Bank 

The maximum allowable vacation balance for any employee is 459 hours. If an 
employee's vacation bank exceeds this limit by more than one month of accrued 
vacation, the Department will schedule time off on their behalf to reduce the 
balance to the 459-hour maximum. 

Section E Retirement Carryover Exceptions 

For retirements occurring in 2025 or 2026: Employees may carry over an 
additional year’s worth of accrued vacation, provided they submit written notice 
of their intent to retire by February 1 of the current year. 

 

SAMPLE CALCULATIONS FOR A 10-YEAR FOUR-PLATOON SHIFT EMPLOYEE: 
Retirement in 2025 (notice submitted 2/1/2024, retirement effective 6/30/2025) 
• Maximum carryover from 2024 to 2025: 264 hours 
• Vacation accrued in 2024 for use in 2025: 264 hours 
• Vacation accrued from Jan 1 to Jun 30, 2025: 133.5 hours 
• Total payout on 6/30/2025: 661.5 hours 

Retirement in 2026 (notice submitted 2/1/2025, retirement effective 6/30/2026) 
• Maximum vacation balance: 459 hours 
• Vacation accrued in 2025 for use in 2026: 267 hours 
• Vacation accrued from Jan 1 to Jun 30, 2026: 133.5 hours 
• Total payout on 6/30/2026: 859.5 hours 

Retirement in 2027 (retirement effective 6/30/2027) 
• Maximum vacation balance: 459 Hours 
• Total payout on 6/30/2027: 459 hours 

Section F Employees will have the option to cash out up to 96 hours of accrued vacation for 
Platoon shift employees and 50 hours for Day Shift employees. The employee will 
need to submit their request for vacation cash out to payroll by June 1 (for pay) 
and/or October 1 (for contribution to their 401A) of each year. The vacation hours 
will be cashed out at the employee’s normal hourly rate of pay (Platoon shift rate 
for employees regularly assigned to Platoon shift and Day shift rate for employees 
regularly assigned to Day shift) as of June 1 and/or October 1 and will be processed 
in the next full-pay cycle. 

  



64 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 33: Special Leaves 

Section A Bereavement Leave 

All 24-hour shift employees shall be allowed up to forty-eight (48) hours* of 
Bereavement Leave, and all-day shift employees shall be allowed up to forty (40) 
hours of Bereavement Leave from the date of occurrence, to be used within thirty 
(30) calendar days. Additional time off will be reviewed by the Fire Chief or 
designee and may be approved on a case-by-case basis. 

 
Bereavement Leave is defined as time off for a death in the employee’s immediate 
family as defined below per RCW 29B.10.280.  

 
Immediate Family includes the spouse or domestic partner, dependent children, 
and other dependent relatives, if living in the household. For the purposes of the 
definition of "intermediary" in RCW 29B.10.320, "immediate family" means an 
individual's spouse or domestic partner, and child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, 
stepparent, grandparent, brother, half-brother, sister, or half-sister of the 
individual and the spouse or the domestic partner of any such person and a child, 
stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, brother, half-brother, 
sister, or half-sister of the individual's spouse or domestic partner and the spouse 
or the domestic partner of any such person. 

 
*For 24-hour shift employees, an additional twenty-four (24) hours will be allowed 
off if a work back day or trade is scheduled in the five (5) days preceding or five 
days (5) following one complete rotation (48 hours) that is taken off on 
Bereavement Leave. 

Section B  Home Emergency Leave 

All employees shall be allowed one occurrence of Home Emergency Leave 
annually.  The intent of Home Emergency Leave is to allow the employee time off 
using vacation or compensatory time for emergencies as described below. 
Twenty-four (24)-hour shift employees shall be allowed up to twenty-four (24) 
hours and all day-shift employees shall be allowed up to one (1) work shift of 
Home Emergency Leave annually. 
 
Home Emergencies are defined as an emergent home crisis, emergent or pending 
damage to the home, personal property and/or the inability for the employee to 
travel to work due to storm, fire, flooding, earthquake or other similar accidents 
or acts of nature where advanced planning could not have mitigated the 
employee’s work obligation. 
 
It is expected that, if possible, the employee shall return to work after the 
emergent situation has been stabilized. 
 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29B.10.280
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29B.10.280


65 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

If the employee does not have accrued leave, then the hours will be deducted 
from the following calendar year’s vacation bank.  If the employee requires 
additional time to stabilize the home emergency, and cannot arrange for a trade, 
the employee will be granted the use of other optional time off by the Fire Chief 
or designee. Other situations not specifically covered in this article will be 
reviewed by the Fire Chief or designee and may be approved on a case-by-case 
basis. 

Section C Parental Leave 

All 24-hour shift employees shall be allowed up to forty-eight (48) hours of paid 
Parental Leave annually, and all-day shift employees shall be allowed up to forty 
(40) hours of paid Parental Leave annually for the birth or adoption of their child.  
The Parental Leave shall be used no later than thirty (30) days after the birth or 
adoption of the employee’s child. 

 
*For 24-hour shift employees, an additional twenty-four (24) hours will be allowed 
off if a work back day or trade is scheduled in the five (5) days preceding or five 
days (5) following one complete rotation (48 hours) that is taken off on Parental 
Leave. 

Section D Pregnancy Light Duty 

Upon documentation to the Department of a pregnancy the employee will 
automatically be allowed the option to work on light duty for the length of their 
pregnancy. 

  



66 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 34: Leave of Absence 

Section A Employees with five (5) years of service or more may apply for a leave of absence 
from the Shoreline Fire Department.  Leaves of absence (LOA) will be granted at 
the sole discretion of the Fire Chief, based on the operational needs of the 
Department. A LOA is granted for personnel who expect to return to work at 
Shoreline Fire Department and will not be granted for individuals seeking other 
employment. 

Section B LOA will not be longer than one (1) year. 

Section C Employees on LOA will not receive any salary and benefits during their absence.  
Further, employees on LOA will not accrue seniority, time in grade (related to 
promotions), will not be eligible for any overtime, will not be eligible for 
promotion, and will not receive any other benefit that they otherwise may have 
been the beneficiary of during their LOA.  Accrued vacation and/or sick leave hours 
may be converted to health care benefits at the employee’s request.  Otherwise, 
per COBRA law, employees may elect to stay on the Department plan, provided it 
is done at the employee’s own expense.  During LOA, the employee will be exempt 
from Article 5 and will be responsible for paying dues directly to Local 1760. 

Section D Upon the employee’s return to duty, in accordance with Administrative Policy 142, 
the employee will be placed back at their last held position or assignment and will 
resume the accrual of salary, benefits, seniority and other such 
privileges/responsibilities as other full-time employees per the terms of this 
contract and Department SOP’s. An audit will be conducted to ensure that the 
employee meets their obligation under the terms of this agreement for any 
remaining time in the calendar year of their absence. The Department longevity 
list will be updated with the employee’s loss of seniority for the time they were 
away. 

Section E In no case will an LOA result in the permanent appointment/promotion of any 
employee filling a vacancy for an employee on LOA. Article 24 of this agreement 
is waived as it relates to the nine (9) month period at which promotions shall 
occur. 

Section F This Article shall not apply to individuals who remain employees or contract 
employees of the Shoreline Fire Department. 

Section G Rehire Process 

Former employees of the Shoreline Fire Department may be considered for rehire 
based on their previous good standing and the availability of open positions. Refer 
to policy Admin 142, Return to Work After Extended Leave, for specific details.  



67 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 35: Jury Duty 

Section A The Department agrees to allow time off with no loss of pay or benefits for 
any employee for Department related legal matters or if selected for jury 
duty. 

Specific to jury duty, the number of days is not limited and based on the 
following criteria: 

1. An employee that is scheduled to work the night before the required 
day to report for jury service shall be released from duty at 2000 hours. 

2. An employee asked to report for jury duty but not assigned to a jury 
will return to work after being released each day as soon as practical. 

3. An employee seated on a jury is exempt from returning to work until 
such time as they have been released from service. 

4. An employee assigned to a jury that spans a weekend or holiday shall 
be required to work all assigned shifts during that span with the 
exception of the 12 hours preceding the next scheduled jury duty day. 

Section B Any funds received for jury duty while on-shift, exclusive of mileage 
reimbursement, will be returned to the Department. 

Section C The following documentation is required for jury duty and shall be 
submitted to Human Resources: 

1. Jury Summons (turned in prior to service). 
2. Compensation documentation. 
3. Release from service documentation (provided by the court). 
  



68 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 36 Medical and Dental Insurance 

Section A Medical coverage shall be provided in accordance with the prevailing laws of the 
State of Washington. 

Section B The Department shall pay 100% of the applicable premium costs per month for 
employee, spouse, domestic partner (as defined by LEOFF Health and Welfare 
Trust) and eligible dependents for the LEOFF Health & Welfare Trust (LEOFFT) Plan 
B, a high-deductible medical insurance plan. 

 
Employees shall receive a monthly contribution to their HRA VEBA account equal 
to $166.67 if single and $333.33 for employees with a spouse, domestic partner, 
and/or dependents. The Department shall make the HRA VEBA contributions on a 
monthly basis. If an employee leaves employment mid-year, they will receive a 
prorated amount of the yearly contribution equal to the number of months they 
worked. Employees hired in the middle of a month will also receive prorated 
contributions. 
 
Union and Management agree that a Labor/Management committee will provide 
continued oversight and evaluation of health care issues including health care 
savings vehicles, such as but not limited to HSA’s, HRA’s and FSA’s that may be 
incorporated into medical coverage offered by the Department.  Either party may 
open this Article.  If there are any changes to be made, then the decision will be 
agreed to by November 15 of the current year. If no decision is reached by 
November 15, then this Article will remain status quo. 

Section C The Department agrees to pay 100% of the applicable premium costs per month 
to the LEOFF Health & Welfare Trust Dental Plan 2 for all full-time employees, their 
spouse, domestic partner, and their dependents during the term of this 
Agreement. 

  



69 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 37: LEOFF2 Long-Term Disability Insurance 

Section A The Department shall contribute $500 per year per represented employee as 
wages for long-term disability insurance.  A one-time payment shall be included in 
each employee’s January paycheck. One hundred percent (100%) of the long-term 
disability policy premium chosen by the Union and the Department will be paid on 
a monthly basis by each employee utilizing payroll deduction. 

  



70 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 38: Health Care Trust:  Medical Expense Reimbursement Plan (MERP) 

Section A The Department agrees to enroll all bargaining unit employees in the 
International Association of Firefighters (IAFF) Health Care Trust – Medical 
Expense Reimbursement Plan (MERP) (hereafter, the “Trust”). 

Section B The monthly contribution shall be made for each employee by the 
Department in the amount of $100.00 beginning January 1, 2015, on a pre-
tax basis.  

Section C Participation, consistent with MERP plan rules, shall be mandatory for all 
bargaining unit employees. 

Section D Reporting to the Trust Office 

The Department shall electronically submit to the Trust Office a monthly 
report of contributing employees for each contribution sent to the Trust, 
in the format requested by the Trust, and received by the Trust Office 
within five (5) days of receipt of the contribution funds. 
 
The Department shall also provide an initial report of information for all 
contributing employees, as reasonably requested by the Trust; and shall 
send updates to this information to the Trust Office whenever the 
Employer has notice of changes to the information. 

Section E By January 1 of each year, Local 1760 may establish a supplemental contribution 
rate utilizing payroll deduction consistent with MERP policy. 

  



71 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 39: 457 Plan / Deferred Compensation Program 

Section A The Department shall continue to provide the current Deferred Compensation 
Plan(s) during the term of this Agreement.  Employee participation in the Deferred 
Compensation Program is mandatory. 

Section B The employee shall contribute a minimum of 3% of their monthly salary to 
deferred compensation. 

Section C January 1st of each year, employees will automatically increase their contribution 
to deferred compensation by 1% up to the annual max, and it will be considered 
optional. An employee can opt-out of the optional increase(s), future 
contributions, or pause contributions at any time.  

If the increase to CPI-U/other increase to top step Firefighter is less than 1% on 
January 1st then there shall be no automatic optional increase to deferred 
compensation.  



72 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 40: Health Reimbursement Arrangement – Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary 
Association (HRA VEBA) 

Section A All employees shall participate in a HRA VEBA or equivalent health care 
reimbursement trust account program recognized by IRS code 501(c)(9).  
Contributions to the HRA VEBA account shall be a set dollar amount based on Tier 
1, Tier 2 or Tier 3 definitions.   

 
On December 1st of each year, the Union shall notify the Administrative Director 
of the dollar amount to be applied to each tier for the following year, if changes 
need to be made. 
 
The tiers are defined as follows: 
Tier 1  Employees without dependents. 
Tier 2  Employees with spouses and/or dependents. 
Tier 3  Military Exclusion (no contribution): 

• Employees and/or spouses, through career military service, are 
and will be covered by the U.S. Government for all medical 
expenses. 

  



73 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 41: Life Insurance 

Section A The Department shall pay the premium for each employee on a group rate for the 
following life insurance benefits through the WSCFF’s partner, DiMartino & 
Associates.  The cost of this program to the Department shall not exceed $450 
annually.  Any costs exceeding that amount will be covered by a payroll deduction 
for that employee. Employees will have the option to purchase additional 
coverage at their own expense: 

• $100,000  Employee Life 
• $1,000  Dependent Life 
• $100,000  Accidental Death and Disability 
• $100,000  Line of Duty Death Benefit 
 
The provider of life insurance for the Department shall be reviewed on an annual 
basis and compared to other programs to ensure that it is the best option available 
to the employees. This review will be conducted by an established insurance 
review committee as established by the Labor Management Committee. 

  



74 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 42: Clothing Allowance 

Section A Quartermaster 

All Uniform clothing and equipment referred to in this article shall be provided via 
a Shoreline Fire Department quartermaster system.  

Section B Policy Admin 102-B Uniform Clothing Standard for Uniformed Employees details 
the uniform clothing required. The Department shall replace clothing when it is 
worn or damaged. 

SPECIAL NOTE FOR 2025: Employees needing more than $660 worth of 
replacement clothing, or for employees who have two different colors of uniforms 
$720, for 2025 will have the amount exceeding that dollar figure as a payroll 
deduction.  This will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. 
 

Section C No payroll deductions will be authorized when making purchases with the 
exception of Wildland Team members wanting to make PPE/Clothing purchases 
from the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) for additional personal clothing 
supplies. 

Section D After a new employee successfully completes their one-year probationary period, 
the Department will supply them with the appropriate Class A dress clothing. 

 
Updating for change in rank or status, worn, and/or damaged Class A uniforms will 
be handled via the quartermaster (as long as the damage was not due to 
negligence).  Changes in size will be the employee's responsibility. 
 

Section E All protective clothing, equipment, and devices required for employees to perform 
their duties shall be furnished to the employee by the Department. Approved 
clothing items are also listed in the Department’s Policy Admin 102-B Uniform 
Clothing Standard for Uniformed Employees, and 102-E Specialized Equipment. 

 
All protective clothing and devices, supplied by the Department (or personalized 
items purchased by an employee) for on-duty use, shall conform to Washington 
State Vertical Standards and the Department's Clothing Policy. 

Section F Employee Responsibility 

Each employee shall be responsible for wearing appropriate and well-maintained 
clothing at all times. It shall be the employee’s responsibility to provide for the 
maintenance and care of their clothing, and request new clothing and equipment 
as needed. 

Section G Department Property 



75 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

All clothing, protective clothing, uniform boots, equipment, and devices 
purchased by the Department shall remain the sole property of the Department.  
Employees are responsible for the reasonable care of all such Department 
clothing, equipment, and devices.  Any disposal of said items shall conform to 
Administrative Policy 102 Uniform Clothing. 

Section H Wildland Equipment 

All employees on the Wildland Fire Team shall be provided with Department-
provided equipment and protective wildland PPE meeting WAC 296-305-07012 
and as detailed in Policy Admin 102-B Uniform Clothing Standard for Uniformed 
Employees. 
 
All protective equipment and clothing shall meet the 2005 NFPA 1977 standards 
or the current standard if the above standard becomes obsolete.  

Section I Technical Rescue Clothing and Equipment 

All employees referenced in Article 29 Specialty Assignments and Pay, shall be 
provided clothing and equipment as defined in the Admin 102 series policies. 

Section J Promotions 

An employee promoted to a different position that requires a new color of 
uniform, shall receive a full set of replacement clothing as referred to in Policy 
102-B Uniform Clothing Standard for Uniformed Employees. 

  



76 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 43: Education Incentive 

Section A Tuition and books shall be paid by the Department upon approval of the 
curriculum by the Fire Chief or appointed designee. Failure to receive a passing 
grade of 2.5 will result in tuition being reimbursed to the Department through 
payroll deduction. Refer to Admin Policy 139 Establishing a College Education 
Program for specific details. 

Section B Employees who earn degrees or certifications, as described in this section, shall be 
granted incentive pay as a percentage increase of top-step Firefighter as described 
in Article 26 Wage Scale Matrix. Only one of the below pay increases may be 
applied to each employee’s pay: 

• King County Fire Officers Development Academy (ODA)    
or IFSAC Fire Officer II:       0.5% 

• Associate’s Degree:       1.5% 
• Bachelor’s Degree:       2.0% 
• Master’s Degree or above:      2.5% 

Section C The following certifications and corresponding incentive will be added onto the 
items identified in Section B and do not depend on achieving any of the 
Educational levels as described in Section B: 

• Completion of Management of EMS (R0150) and Advanced Leadership Issues 
in EMS (R0151) at the NFA or approved course by the Fire Chief: 0.5% 

• Completion of the Seattle Executive Leadership Academy (ELA): 0.5% 
• Completion of the Executive Fire Officer (EFO) program at the NFA: 1.5% 



77 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 44: Fire Marshal's Office On-Call Compensation 

Section A Fire Marshal's Office (FMO) employees meeting the requirements of FMO 300 
shall be eligible to participate in the on-call program. 

Section B FMO employees electing to participate shall be assigned on-call shifts on a rotating 
fair and equitable basis by the Fire Marshal or designee. 

Section C FMO employees shall comply with all requirements of FMO 300 while assigned to 
an on-call shift. 

Section D FMO employees, while assigned to an on-call shift shall be compensated at 10% 
of their hourly rate of pay for only the hours of their assigned on-call shift. When 
called out to an event, on-call pay shall cease for the time that overtime is being 
earned. Should an employee fail to respond to a call during their assigned on-call 
shift, they shall forfeit the pay for the entire assigned shift. 

  



78 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 45: Electrical Use for Personally-Owned Vehicles 

Section A The Department shall allow employees, while conducting bona fide Department 
business or work, to charge electric and/or electric/hybrid vehicles while parked 
at Department-owned property where the ability to charge a vehicle is possible.  
The Department encourages reducing fossil fuel emissions, which benefits both 
the environment and employees. 

Section B Paramedics stationed in neighboring jurisdictions shall be allowed to charge 
electric and/or electric/hybrid vehicles only if the neighboring jurisdictions allow 
the charging of personally owned vehicles through a metered charging station. 

Section C The Department shall install charging stations as demand, logistics, and finances 
can accommodate. Charging stations at facilities outside of the Department will 
be dependent on those organizations agreeing to the implementation. 

Section E The Department and Union both recognize, due to a gradual installation of 
charging stations or meters, that some employees may have a better opportunity 
to take advantage of this program than others.  This disparity does not represent 
a situation where some employees are being treated differently from others, but 
rather a commitment over the long term to build a program that can eventually 
benefit everyone.  



79 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 46: Paid Family Medical Leave 

Section A Supplementation 

Employees may choose to use sick leave, vacation, and/or compensatory time to 
supplement Paid Family Medical Leave (PFML) in order to receive their full-time 
salary. 

Bonding Leave (birth of a baby or the adoption/placement of a child younger than 
18 years of age). Supplementation for bonding leave is restricted for up to 12 
consecutive weeks immediately following birth and paternal leave. 
• During the bonding supplementation period, employees may not:  

o Work in operations. 
o Move work back days into the supplementation period. 
o Do trades within the supplementation period. 

• Once the employee returns to operational work, the supplementation period 
ends. 

• Employees may attend meetings and non-operational activities. 
• Employees may choose to use, partially use, or not use supplementation. 
• Supplementation does not affect an employee’s right to take PFML bonding 

leave as state law allows. 
• Employees with a WA-ESD-approved bonding event that occurred before the 

ratification of the 2025 contract may continue to use PFML bonding 
supplementation in accordance with the PFML MOU dated March 1, 2023. 

Section B Leave Usage 

Employees may use the following leave types in any order or combination: 
• Paid Family Medical Leave (State). 
• Sick Leave. 
• Vacation Leave. 
• Compensatory Time. 

Section C An employee who gives birth shall be made financially equivalent to “whole” by 
the Department for up to 12 consecutive weeks of medical recovery time and 
family bonding immediately following birth and parental leave. The Department 
will contribute “top off” pay above PFML if using PFML. If the employee is not 
using PFML, then the Department would pay the equivalent weekly supplemental 
benefit amount as if they were using PFML. The employee will have the option to 
use other accrued leave (example: sick, vacation, comp) if wanting to be made 
whole. The employee can use their own hours to supplement for an additional six 
consecutive weeks.  



80 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

Section D Human Resources Support 

Human Resources will assist employees with: 
• Answering questions about the PFML program. 
• Helping resolve issues or complications related to the State PFML program. 
• Acting as an advocate when appropriate. 

Section E Benefit Impacts: 

Using PFML does not affect an employee’s seniority or longevity. 

Section F Employees may access PFML benefits within the timelines and eligibility periods 
established by Washington State law.  



81 
Shoreline Fire Department 

Uniformed CBA January 1, 2025-December 31, 2027 

ARTICLE 47: Term of Agreement 

The term of this Agreement shall become effective January 1, 2025, unless otherwise 
specified herein, and shall remain in effect through December 31, 2027. 
 
Amended on ___________ day of ______________________, 2025. 
 
Shoreline Fire Department    Local 1760, IAFF                                                        
Board of Fire Commissioners     
 

   
  Kimberly A. Fischer, Chair  Doug Loeser, President, IAFF L-1760  

 
   

Tyler Byers, Vice Chair  Jerett Rumph, Vice President 
   
   

Eric Adman, Commissioner  Troy Crossley, Vice President 
   
   

David Harris, Commissioner  Alan Christou, Secretary 
   
   

Rod Heivilin, Commissioner  Michael Mentzos, Treasurer 
   

   
Rick Nye, Commissioner   

   
   

Josh Pratt, Commissioner  Attest: 
   

   
Barb Sullivan, Commissioner  Secretary to the Board 

 
 

Rick Webster, Commissioner 
 

 
Lisa Wollum, Commissioner 

 
 

Matt Cowan, Fire Chief 
 



 

17525 Aurora Avenue North  •  Shoreline, WA  98133  •  PHONE: (206) 533-6500  •  FAX: (206) 546-5719 
www.shorelinefire.com 

 

Shoreline Fire Department  
Dedicated to the Protection of Life and Property 
  
Serving our Communities for Over 85 Years, Since 1939 

FIRE CHIEF 
Matt Cowan 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

   Eric Adman Tyler Byers  
   Kim Fischer David Harris 
   Rod Heivilin Josh Pratt 
   Rick Nye  Barb Sullivan 
   Rick Webster Lisa Wollum
  
 

GOVERNING BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY MEETING 

MOTION APPROVAL FORM 
 

Meeting Date: October 2, 2025 
  

Agenda Title: New Hire - Finance Specialist 
 

Background Information: 
The Department has seen continued growth in both day-to-day operations and financial activity. Our 
current administrative staff are working at full capacity—and in many cases, beyond it. This includes 
increasing demands in accounts payable, purchasing, reconciliation, and other financial duties. 
 
Adding a Finance Specialist will give the Finance Division much-needed support to keep things running 
smoothly and efficiently. This position will help manage the current workload and support long-term 
planning by aligning accounting-related tasks within the appropriate division. 
 
Although this position was not included in the 2025 adopted budget, the need has become critical to 
sustain operational effectiveness and support the long-term financial stability of the organization. 
 

Recommendation: 
Recommend that the RFA Governing Board approve the out-of-budget addition of the Finance Specialist 
position and authorize Human Resources to begin the hiring process, with a proposed start date of 
November 1, 2025. 

 

Financial Impact:   YES   NO   Cost Neutral 
  
Other Options:  
Attachments: Draft Finance Specialist Job Description 

 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
I move to authorize the Governing Board of Commissioners to approve the addition of the Accounting 
Specialist position, outside of the current 2025 budget, and to allow Human Resources to begin the 
hiring process for a start date in November 1, 2025. 
Follow Up Action(s):  
Follow up Person(s): Administrative Director / Assistant Administrative Director 
Follow up Date(s):    

 

http://www.shorelinefire.com/


 

POLICY ADMIN 100 (2.1.54) - Job Description:  Finance Specialist Page 1 of 5 

 POLICY - ADMIN 100 (2.1.54) 
JOB DESCRIPTION 

Finance Specialist 

Approved By:  Original Job Description  Date: 03/01/2022 Revision Date: 09/30/25 

Supersedes:  10/15/24, 03/01/2022 
Admin 124.1 (2.1.54) -Finance Specialist 

See Also:  

 
SUMMARY 
This is a full-time, FLSA, non-exempt, non-supervisory position reporting to, and at the direction of, the 
Assistant Administrative Director in coordination with the Administrative Director. The Finance Specialist 
plays a critical role in supporting the financial operations of the Fire Department by performing specialized 
accounting and administrative duties with a focus on payroll and accounts payable. This position ensures 
accurate, timely, and compliant processing of employee compensation, vendor payments, and financial 
transactions while maintaining the highest level of confidentiality and attention to detail. Specific 
assignments are designated based on operational needs.   
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
The essential duties and responsibilities may include, but are not limited to, the following.  A detailed 
breakdown of the specific job responsibilities may be found in the individualized procedures handbook for 
this position. 
 
Core Administrative Support Duties  
These are the minimum expectations for ALL Administrative Support Staff regardless of assignment. 
 Provide independent administrative support: arrange meetings and coordinate schedules; prepare 

confidential correspondence, comprehensive reports, surveys and memorandums; attend meetings 
and provide accurate meeting minutes. Responsible for compiling, summarizing and reporting 
findings which may include providing recommendations.  May assist with miscellaneous desktop 
publishing and computer-generated audio/visual production.  Provide primary administrative support 
for an assigned division. 

 Receive incoming telephone calls from employees and the public using professional and courteous 
phone etiquette and with sensitivity to the diversity of a multi-cultural audience.  Respond to and 
answer questions and requests within the realm of authority and forward calls to appropriate 
personnel.  

 Maintain accurate, complete, and easily accessible paper and electronic records and filing systems, 
including confidential documents.  Ensure that the integrity of the information is maintained. 

 As assigned, may participate in the Strategic Plan process establishing and tracking annual goals and 
objectives.   

 Serve as liaison to other divisions and departments. 
 As dictated by staffing needs, serve as backup support to various administrative positions. 
 On a regular basis, exercise administrative judgment and assume responsibility for decisions, 

consequences and results having an impact on individuals, the organization and the quality of service 
within the assigned area.  Responsible for keeping the supervisor informed of any issues that may 
have an adverse impact on the division or the Department so that undue escalations can be avoided 
and proactive solutions considered.  

 Know and interpret the formal and informal Department goals, standards, policies and procedures, 
safety rules, and administrative and financial procedural manuals for the area of assignment. 

 As needed, welcome guests and customers in person and over the telephone in the absence of the 
receptionist due to lunch, breaks, vacations or leaves. 

 As an employee of an emergency response organization, may be required to report to work in times 
of disaster.  



 

POLICY ADMIN 100 (2.1.54) - Job Description:  Finance Specialist Page 2 of 5 

 May be required to work outside of job description during times of disaster. 
 May be required to work some evenings and/or weekends. 
 Miscellaneous other administrative duties as assigned. 

General Responsbilities 
• Maintain accurate financial records and ensure compliance with laws, policies, and labor agreements. 
• Provide timely, professional customer service to staff, management, and external partners. 
• Assist with audits, reporting, and financial reconciliations as needed. 
• Identify and implement process improvements to support departmental efficiency. 
• Perform other duties as assigned in support of Finance operations. 

Payroll Specialist Track 
• Process the biweekly payroll in coordination with the Lead Finance Specialist, including adjustments 

for step increases, terminations, status changes, overtime, differential/specialty pay, holiday pay, 
deferred compensation, and leave payouts. 

• Interpret and apply personnel employment and labor contract language. 
• Review, reconcile, and enter payroll data; prepare and transmit payroll reports. 
• Perform monthly accounts payable function for benefit payments tied to payroll.  
• Reconcile leave balances for all employees and communicate discrepancies to supervisors. 
• Resolve payroll discrepancies by collecting and analyzing information. 
• Coordinate with payroll vendor on annual processes, including year-end and W-2 distribution. 
• Ensure compliance with state and federal payroll/tax regulations. 
• Maintain knowledge and understanding of electronic payroll processing system including pay codes; 

troubleshoot issues with internal and external support as needed. 
• Provide payroll-related reporting and updates to management. 

Accounts Payable Specialist Track 
• Process weekly payments and invoices, ensuring accuracy and adherence to department purchasing 

policies and procedures. 
• Prepare vouchers for certification, submit to King County Finance for warrant processing; ensure 

timely vendor payments. 
• Monitor Accounts Payable email account and respond to vendor and employee inquiries in a timely 

manner. 
• Contact vendors and employees to obtain necessary documents needed to process invoices and 

payments, such as W9s, payment details, or other items. 
• Process and issue year-end 1099 forms. 
• Provide support to employees initiating and processing purchase orders (POs), ensuring compliance 

with internal procurement policies. Verify purchase orders for proper approvals and accurate coding; 
communicate to personnel regarding open POs.   

• Troubleshoot any accounting inaccuracies through conclusion.  
• Keep management personnel informed of invoice concerns as deemed appropriate. 
• Maintain vendor files, payment records, and resolve invoice or payment discrepancies. 
• Support month-end closing activities, including journal entries and reporting. 
• Notify payees of outstanding warrants, coordinate with King County for reissuance. 
• Reconile petty cash accounts and the Department’s credit cards, ensuring timely submission of 

receipts and compliance with policies. 
• Reconcile fuel use and allocate costs to appropriate division budgets.  
• Process employee reimbursements and daily cash deposits. 
• Ensure adherence to the State of Washington BARS Chart of Accounts and other applicable 

laws/regulations. 
• Assist in monitoring budget expenditures. 



 

POLICY ADMIN 100 (2.1.54) - Job Description:  Finance Specialist Page 3 of 5 

QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 
To perform this job successfully, an individual must be able to perform each essential duty thoroughly and 
satisfactorily. In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), reasonable accommodations 
may be made to enable individuals with limited disabilities; however, accommodations may not be 
available for the essential functions listed above due to bona fide occupational requirements. Individuals 
must satisfactorily complete a criminal history background check. The requirements listed in this job 
description are representative of the knowledge, skills and/or abilities required. The employee will strive 
at all times to excel in the following competencies necessary to accomplish the core and division duties 
listed: 

Knowledge 
Must be proficient in: 
• Modern office systems and technology including personal computers and related software (at a 

minimum MS Word, Excel, Outlook, Publisher, SharePoint, and similar programs).  
• Standard office equipment, i.e., photocopier, 10-key machine, facsimile machine and electronic 

postage machine. 
• Office administration and bookkeeping procedures. 
• Business letter writing, email communications and report preparation. 
• Advanced principles and procedures of record keeping and filing to include both hard copy and 

electronic. 
• Customer service and team building techniques. 
• At time of hire, or within one month, working knowledge and proficiency with current payroll software 

being utilized by the Department. 
 
The employee must have proficient knowledge in the following areas after completion of three months: 
• Fire Department organizational structure and functioning. 
• Policies, regulations and procedures related to personnel of the Fire Department. 
 

Skills and Abilities 
Must demonstrate the following skills and abilities: 
• Ability to read, write, speak and communicate using the English language.  
• Ability to maintain a high level of accuracy and confidentiality concerning financial and personnel 

matters. Ability to effectively handle confidential, difficult and sensitive issues by using tact, 
diplomacy, and an understanding of the organizational culture, climate and/or politics. 

• Excellent interpersonal skills including the ability to build and maintain effective team relationships 
with employees, public officials and the public. Consistently respect the individual values of all 
departmental employees and members of the community. Effectively communicate, build rapport 
and relate well with diverse populations.  

• Ability to anticipate, analyze, diagnose, and problem solve. 
• Ability to communicate clearly and concisely, both verbally and in writing.  
• Attention to detail and the ability to meet deadlines with constant interruptions. 
• Proficient skill and ability to read, comprehend, analyze, balance, and reconcile accounting and payroll 

records and to prepare accurate and clear accounting records, worksheets, charts, and reports. 
• Proficient skill and ability to add, subtract, multiply and divide in all units of measure using whole 

numbers, common fractions, and decimals, and to compute percentage rates and other calculations 
as applied to basic payroll and accounting functions. 

• Computer skills including the ability to utilize spreadsheets, word processing, and other programs 
being used by the Department.  

• Ability to accurately type 50 words per minute, or at an acceptable level of proficiency as required by 
the position.  



 

POLICY ADMIN 100 (2.1.54) - Job Description:  Finance Specialist Page 4 of 5 

• Demonstrate self-control and an ability to manage time, multiple projects and priorities with minimal 
supervision.  Ability to work under stressful conditions with various personality types and 
expectations.   

• Ability to emphasize the concept of customer service in all aspects of interacting with the community 
by anticipating and meeting customer needs, wants, and expectations whenever possible. 

• Decision making skills. 

Personal Attributes 
Must demonstrate the following personal attributes: 
• Be honest and trustworthy. 
• Be respectful, professional and courteous. 
• Possess cultural awareness and sensitivity. 
• Be flexible. 
• Possess sound work ethics. 

Education and/or Experience 
 A High School Diploma or General Education Degree (GED) equivalent and, a minimum of two (2) years 

of experience in a responsible, independent administrative support position, or 
 A two-year degree in an accounting or business-related field is preferred, or any combination of 

education and experience, which demonstrates competency to perform the duties outlined in this job 
description. 

 Knowledge and understanding of payroll processing system, chart of accounts, general accounting 
practices and procedures, applicable laws, codes and regulations, general auditing functions, payroll 
taxes, fire service payroll practices and methods, union wages, labor-management agreements and 
employment contracts. 

Desired Qualifications 
• Proficiency with one of the following ADP products:  Workforce Now Payroll, Pay eXpert, Workforce 

Now Expanded HR, HR/B or HR Benefits. 
• Two (2) years’ work experience in payroll processing for 50 or more employees using an automated 

payroll system (fire service experience preferred). 

Certificates, Licenses, Registrations, Other 
 Upon employment, and while employed, must hold and continuously maintain, a valid Washington 

State driver’s license.          
 Must be insurable under the Department existing vehicle and umbrella liability insurance carrier and 

Washington State law. 

Physical Demands 
The physical demands described are representative of those that must be met to successfully perform the 
essential functions of this position:  
 Regularly required to sit for long periods of time, use hands and fingers to handle or feel objects, tools, 

or controls, reach with hands and arms, ability to speak and hear, and frequently required to stand, 
walk, stoop, and kneel. 

 Regularly lift and/or move up to 10 pounds, and occasionally lift and/or move up to 25 pounds.  
 Specific vision abilities required include close vision, distance vision, color vision, peripheral vision, 

depth perception and the ability to adjust focus. 
  



 

POLICY ADMIN 100 (2.1.54) - Job Description:  Finance Specialist Page 5 of 5 

Work Environment 
 Work is normally performed indoors in an office environment. 
 Emotionally demanding, stressful environment. 
 The noise level is usually quiet. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The statements contained herein reflect general details to describe the principle functions of this job, the level of 
knowledge and skills typically required, and the scope of responsibility, but should not be considered an all-
inclusive list of work requirements. Individuals may perform other duties as assigned including work in other 
functional areas to cover absences or relief, to equalize peak work periods or to otherwise balance the workload. 
The omission of specific statements of duties does not exclude them from the position if the work is similar related 
or a logical assignment to the position. 



Shoreline Fire Department

2025 WAGE SCALE:  January 1, 2025 - December 31, 2025
2025 Wages:  3.8% Increase per CPI-U, All Users Seattle/Tacoma/Bellevue

Monthly Salary:  Administrative Support Staff

Position
0 – 12 

Months

13 – 24 

Months

*After 24 

Months

*After 24 

Months
80% 90% 100% Hourly Rate

Lead Finance Specialist 100% 8,307.95$     9,346.45$      10,384.94$    59.91$        

Finance Specialist 100% 7,829.79$     8,808.52$      9,787.24$      56.46$        

Executive Assistant 100% 7,638.53$     8,593.34$      9,548.16$      55.09$        

Human Resources Specialist 100% 7,638.53$     8,593.34$      9,548.16$      55.09$        

Administrative Assistant:  Training/EMS 100% 7,448.06$     8,379.07$      9,310.08$      53.71$        

Administrative Assistant: Fire Prevention 100% 7,162.63$     8,057.96$      8,953.29$      51.65$        

Administrative Assistant: NKCTC 100% 7,162.63$     8,057.96$      8,953.29$      51.65$        

Administrative Assistant:  Admin Spec.- Sta 61 100% 6,875.06$     7,734.45$      8,593.83$      49.58$        

Administrative Assistant:  FMO/Website Spec. 100% 7,162.63$     8,057.96$      8,953.29$      51.65$        

Administrative Assistant:  Admin Spec.-Sta 51 100% 6,875.06$     7,734.45$      8,593.83$      49.58$        

Receptionist 100% 5,664.14$     6,372.15$      7,080.17$      40.85$        

Premiums and Special Pay - BASED OFF OF POSITION SALARY:

Associate's Degree & Above 1.5%

Bachelor's Degree 2.0%

Master's Degree or Higher 2.5%

Longevity Premiums - BASED OFF OF POSITION SALARY:

5 Years 2.0%

10 Years 4.0%

15 Years 6.0%

20 Years 8.0%

Wage Scale for Admin. Support Staff Last Update:  Mar 25, 2024



 

17525 Aurora Avenue North  •  Shoreline, WA  98133  •  PHONE: (206) 533-6500  •  FAX: (206) 546-5719 
www.shorelinefire.com 

 

Shoreline Fire Department  
Dedicated to the Protection of Life and Property 
  
Serving our Communities for Over 85 Years, Since 1939 

FIRE CHIEF 
Matt Cowan 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

   Eric Adman Tyler Byers  
   Kim Fischer David Harris 
   Rod Heivilin Josh Pratt 
   Rick Nye  Barb Sullivan 
   Rick Webster Lisa Wollum
  
 

GOVERNING BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGIONAL FIRE AUTHORITY MEETING 

MOTION APPROVAL FORM 
 

Meeting Date: October 2, 2025 
  

Agenda Title: New Hire – Facilities Technician 
 

Background Information: 
The Department has been short on workload capabilities in addressing facilities issues since a 
retirement from a year and a half ago.  While we continue to pursue a Facilities Manager position, we 
also have a need for a Facilities Technician position.  This position will initially working on lower level 
items such as landscaping duties, painting, pressure washing, etc.. 

Recommendation: 
Pursue the hiring of a Facilities Technician position as soon as possible.  This was originally going to be 
a 2026 budget item, but we have savings from unfulfilled positions at this time and believe that we 
should move forward before 2026. 

Financial Impact:   YES   NO   Cost Neutral 
 We will be paring down many support services line items, but there will 

be some impact to cover the S&B package. 
Other Options:  
Attachments: Facilities Technician Job Description 

 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
I move to authorize the Governing Board of Commissioners to approve pursuing the hiring of a 
Facilities Technician position as soon as possible. 
Follow Up Action(s):  
Follow up Person(s): Fire Chief Matt Cowan / Deputy Chief Matt Hochstein 
Follow up Date(s):    

 

http://www.shorelinefire.com/










 
 

 
SHORELINE FIRE DEPARMENT 

REGOINAL FIRE AUTHORITY (RFA)  
Tentative Projected Agendas 

Regional Fire Authority Board meetings are held monthly on the 1st and 3rd Thursday of the month 
• Items may not be in the same order as they will appear on the preliminary agenda. 

 
 
October 2, 2025 
Planned Absence: Commissioners Nye and Adman will attend via Zoom or have an excused absence 
5:30 PM (Public Meeting Station 61) 

SUBJECT RESOLUTION TYPE STAFF 

    

October 16, 2025 
Planned Absence:  
5:30 PM (Public Meeting Station 51) 

SUBJECT RESOLUTION TYPE STAFF 
October 22-25 WA Fire Commissioners Conference 
October 27-29 Department’s Leadership Retreat 
November 3 – Special Meeting to review 2026 budget at 
5:30 p.m. at Station 61 
October 30 – RFA Special Board Meeting / Public Hearing 
at 5:30 p.m. at Station 61 

   

November 6, 2025 
Planned Absence:  
5:30 PM (Public Meeting Station 61) 

SUBJECT RESOLUTION TYPE STAFF 

    

November 20, 2025 
Planned Absence: Commissioner Nye will attend via Zoom or have an excused absence 
5:30 PM (Public Meeting Station 51) 

SUBJECT RESOLUTION TYPE STAFF 

Adoption of 2026 budget and supporting Resolutions    

December 4, 2025 
Planned Absence:  
5:30 PM (Public Meeting Station 61) 

SUBJECT RESOLUTION TYPE STAFF 

    

December 18, 2025 
Planned Absence:  
5:30 PM (Public Meeting Station 51) 

SUBJECT RESOLUTION TYPE STAFF 

    

FUTURE DATES: 
• January 1, 2026, Board meeting – falls on 

Holiday 

D   = Discussion 
A   = Action 
PH = Public Hearing 


	2-October 2, 2025 Motion to Approve Contract for Station 57 HVAC.pdf
	2025_0911 RFP Station 57 HVAC Final_.pdf
	INTRODUCTION/PURPOSE OF REQUEST
	DEPARTMENT BACKGROUND
	SCOPE OF WORK
	Base Bid, including WSST:
	Additive Pricing Alternates
	ALT 1:  Provide all-inclusive additive cost, including WSST, for Alternate Controls System as follows:
	ALT 2:  Provide all-inclusive additive cost, including WSST, to add fault detection, monitoring, and energy optimization (smart building system preferred) to ALT 1.

	SAFETY REQUIREMENTS
	PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS
	EVALUATION CRITERIA
	CONTACT INFORMATION
	EXCEPTIONS
	CONTRACT NEGOTIATION AND AWARD
	EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT
	TITLE VI
	COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS


	3-September 18 2025 RFA Meeting Minutes_FINAL.pdf
	Minutes prepared by: Beatriz Goldsmith
	Boupha K. Siharath
	Kimberly A. Fischer, Commissioner
	Rick Webster, Commissioner

	5-October 2, 2025 RFA District Voucher Approval Sheet.pdf
	1st Board Meeting

	5-October 2, 2025 RFA District Voucher Approval Sheet.pdf
	1st Board Meeting

	10-October 2, 2025 Motion to Approve Appendix A BLS Increase.pdf
	2025 RFA Resolution BLS Transport Fee Increase_Appendix A_CPIU 2.7% increase.pdf
	Boupha K. Siharath
	Kimberly A. Fischer, Commissioner
	Rick Webster, Commissioner


	12-October 2, 2025 Motion to Approve Finance Specialist.pdf
	ADMIN 100 (2.1.54) Finance Specialist_DRAFT.pdf
	Essential Duties and Responsibilities
	Qualification Requirements


	12-October 2, 2025 Motion to Approve Uniformed CBA 2025-2027.pdf
	CBA Uniformed 2025-2027.pdf
	ARTICLE 1: Recognition
	ARTICLE 2: Successors and Assigns
	ARTICLE 3: Savings Clause
	ARTICLE 4: Union Membership and Security
	ARTICLE 5: Collection and Payment of Union Dues
	ARTICLE 6: Non-Discrimination Clause
	ARTICLE 7: Union Communication
	ARTICLE 8: Union Business and Trades
	ARTICLE 9: Subcontracting
	ARTICLE 10: Management Rights
	ARTICLE 11: Maintaining a Drug-Free Workplace
	ARTICLE 12: Off-Shift Participation
	ARTICLE 13: Disciplinary Procedure
	ARTICLE 14: Grievance Procedure
	ARTICLE 15: Reduction in Force and Reduction in Classification
	ARTICLE 16: Paramedic Promotion Out of Program/Decertification
	ARTICLE 17: EMS Certification Performance
	ARTICLE 18: Paramedic School Assignment / Reimbursement
	ARTICLE 19: Wellness-Fitness Participation
	ARTICLE 20: Probationary Term of Employment
	ARTICLE 21: Promotional Positions
	ARTICLE 22: Conflict of Interest
	ARTICLE 23: Contractual Hours
	ARTICLE 24: Working Out of Classification
	ARTICLE 25: Salary Calculations and Pay Periods
	ARTICLE 26: Wage Scale Matrix
	ARTICLE 27: Longevity Pay
	ARTICLE 28: Replacement Shifts and Overtime Compensation
	ARTICLE 29: Specialty Assignments and Pay
	ARTICLE 30: Holiday Time Off and Holiday Pay
	ARTICLE 31: Sick Leave
	ARTICLE 32: Vacation Leave
	ARTICLE 33: Special Leaves
	ARTICLE 34: Leave of Absence
	ARTICLE 35: Jury Duty
	ARTICLE 36 Medical and Dental Insurance
	ARTICLE 37: LEOFF2 Long-Term Disability Insurance
	ARTICLE 38: Health Care Trust:  Medical Expense Reimbursement Plan (MERP)
	ARTICLE 39: 457 Plan / Deferred Compensation Program
	ARTICLE 40: Health Reimbursement Arrangement – Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary Association (HRA VEBA)
	ARTICLE 41: Life Insurance
	ARTICLE 42: Clothing Allowance
	ARTICLE 43: Education Incentive
	ARTICLE 44: Fire Marshal's Office On-Call Compensation
	ARTICLE 45: Electrical Use for Personally-Owned Vehicles
	ARTICLE 46: Paid Family Medical Leave
	ARTICLE 47: Term of Agreement





